
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Economic Regeneration, 
Housing and the Arts Policy 

and Accountability 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 7 July 2015 
7.00 pm 

Small Hall - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration: Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor Daryl Brown 
Councillor Adam Connell 
Councillor Alan De'Ath (Chair) 
 

Councillor Lucy Ivimy 
Councillor Harry Phibbs 
 

  
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Craig Bowdery  

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 �: 020 8756  2278 
 E-mail: craig.bowdery@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

29 June 2015 
 

 

 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Economic Regeneration, Housing and the 
Arts Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

7 July 2015 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 * See note below. 
 

 

3. MINUTES  1 - 7 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chair to sign the minutes of 
the meeting held on 2nd June 2015  
  

 

4. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR   

 The Committee is asked to elect a Vice-Chair for the 2015/16 municipal 
year 
 

 

5. HOUSING STRATEGY SECOND PHASE OF CONSULTATION ON 
THE COUNCIL'S HOUSING ALLOCATION SCHEME; TENANCY 
STRATEGY; AND HOME BUY ALLOCATION SCHEME DRAFT 
DOCUMENTS  

8 - 103 

 To receive a report from the Lead Director for Housing outlining 
proposed new Council policies on:  
 
i) the Housing Allocation Scheme – how should council homes be 

allocated once they become vacant? Who should get priority? 
 
ii) the Tenancy Strategy – should council tenants be secure or fixed 

term? 
 
iii) Home Buy Allocation Scheme – who should get priority?  
 

 

6. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING   

 It is proposed that the future meeting dates are as follows:  

• Tuesday 8th September 2015  

• Tuesday 3rd November 2015  

• Tuesday 1st December 2015  

• Tuesday 19th January 2016 

• Tuesday 8th March 2016 
• Wednesday 20th April 2016 

 
 

 

 



 
* If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is  
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent.  
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest.  
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee.  



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Economic 
Regeneration, 

Housing and the 
Arts Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 2 June 2015 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Daryl Brown, Adam Connell, Alan De'Ath 
(Chair) and Harry Phibbs 
 
Other Councillors:  Councillors Ben Coleman, Sue Fennimore and Lisa Homan 
 
Officers: Steve Barrett (Head of Revenues & Benefits), Craig Bowdery (Scrutiny 
Manager), Richard Buckley (Head of Corporate Safety & Residential Operations), 
John D’Souza (Mitie), Mike England (Director for Housing Options Skills & 
Economic Development), John Francis (Procurement Consultant), Steven Kirrage 
(Director for Asset Management & Property Services), Alan Parry (Procurement 
Consultant) and Michael White (Principal Development Manager).  
 

 
56. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Ivimy.  
 
 

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 
 

58. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED –  
That the minutes of the meeting held on 14th April 2015 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.  

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
 

59. PROGRESS REVIEW OF THE ISSUES ADDRESSED BY THE PAC SINCE 
ITS FORMATION  
 
At the Committee’s previous meeting, it received updates on the items it had 
considered during its first year. Due to time constraints not all items were 
reviewed and so the Committee received a report on the remaining issues.  
 
Procurement 
 
The Committee noted that the Taskforce on Social Value Procurement had 
been established and its final report and recommendations were included 
later in the agenda.  
 
Resident housing inspection programme 
 
A representative from a Housing Representative Forum informed the 
Committee that the training had been delivered. The policy had been changed 
and a new format for inspections would be used from the second quarter of 
2015/16. The Forums had not yet received the finalised new procedures and 
officers undertook to investigate. Residents also explained that the training 
had not been what they were expecting and was more of a workshop to 
discuss developing new forms and practises. It was suggested that further 
training was now needed. The Chair invited residents to send further details 
on what they thought the training should include and Cllr Homan agreed to 
follow-up the issue.  

Action: Steven Kirrage and Cllr Homan  
 
Street properties and gap sites 
 
Cllr Homan reported that she had proposed some individuals to represent 
those blocks of flats not classified as part of an estate. However one of the 
key representatives had recently been unwell so progress had been delayed. 
She agreed to update the Committee at a future meeting.  

Action: Cllr Homan 
 
Measurement of Mitie and Pinnacle  
 
Officers reported that a focus group with the Housing Representative Forums 
would be taking place on 10th June 2015. The group will be considering new 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), with the first session likely to focus on 
measuring repairs and customer satisfaction. Seven members of the 
community were currently confirmed as attending. Officers also explained that 
there would be a representative from Savills in attendance to facilitate the 
sessions and to give examples of good and bad practise from elsewhere. It 
was also confirmed that the KPIs for the preceding year were now available.  
 
Members noted the length of time it took for the Mitie contract to be made 
available online and asked why this was. It was reported that before being 
made publicly available, the contract had to be redacted in parts to remove 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

commercially sensitive information. There was also an ongoing dispute with 
the previous contractor which meant that the Council needed to be especially 
careful what data was released. Members of the public were invited to review 
the contract and its accompanying easier-to-follow Executive Summary and to 
challenge its contents.  
 
Mitie’s communication with residents  
 
Officers from Mitie described how effective communication with residents was 
always a challenge given the Borough’s diverse population and Mitie being a 
large organisation. They reported that resident communication was improving 
but acknowledged that it was not yet at a standard they wished it to be. Two 
new full time employees had been recruited to improve face to face 
interactions at the housing offices and a further employee would be added 
solely to attend resident meetings and forums. It was intended that resident 
representatives would be involved in the recruitment process for this position.  
 
Some of the residents present agreed that improvement had been apparent 
and that the organisation was moving in the right direction. However other 
residents present felt communication was deteriorating with many employees 
not being sufficiently fluent English speakers. Officers from Mitie undertook to 
investigate any specific issues of poor service. They also described how 
when the service transferred to Mitie, they inherited many staff. Those who 
had not been able to deliver a high quality service had been replaced and 
there was substantial investment in building staff capacity and quality. Mitie’s 
was committed to developing and improving its staff, and so any instances of 
poor service needed to be reported so that they could be addressed. There 
was a range of customer service training delivered to staff focussing on things 
such as tone of voice and members of the Committee requested further 
details on this.  
 
A resident described her frustration at trying to report a relatively minor 
complaint by phone and how she had been passed between Mitie, Pinnacle 
and the Council with operators apparently unwilling to resolve her issue. 
Members agreed that such service was not acceptable and argued that it 
should not be the responsibility of a resident to know which organisation was 
responsible for what task. Officers recognised this and explained that they 
were aware of the overly complicated current system. Work was underway to 
redesign the service to ensure it meets the residents’ needs first and provide 
a more seamless provision. Cllr Coleman reported that as the new Cabinet 
Member for Commercial Revenue & Resident Satisfaction, ensuring the 
Council and contractors communicated better and provided a single point of 
contact for residents would be a key priority. It would also be important to 
develop a system that logged complaints properly so that the data could be 
used to improve services.  
 
Tenancy Allocation 
 
Cllr Homan reported that the Housing Strategy had been agreed in May. 
Policies on tenancy allocations were based on the Housing Strategy so now 
that this had been agreed, work on allocations could progress. It was agreed 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

that the Committee would receive a full report on allocations at its next 
meeting as part of the public consultation.  
 
Private rented housing  
 
Cllr Homan highlighted that privately rented housing accounted for a third of 
all properties in the Borough and that this was increasing. To ensure 
residents were not mistreated, the Council had been developing licensing 
restrictions for bad landlords. Officers also reported that the Council had been 
taking action against rogue landlords with some significant prosecutions 
leading to £20,000 fines. The Council had also introduced a redress scheme 
whereby agents signed up to comply by the Ombudsman, giving tenants 
greater opportunity for redress. Funding had also been secured from the 
Public Health budget to provide a range of improvements for unsafe homes. A 
draft Landlords Charter would have a soft launch in July ahead of a full report 
to Cabinet in October.  
 
Better housing for disabled residents 
 
Officers reported that a new housing register application form had been 
developed and successfully road-tested and was now in use. The Committee 
had commissioned a full report on this topic, which would be provided to the 
July meeting. [Post-meeting note: this item will now be considered at the 
September meeting] 
 
Extension of handyman service to all estates  
 
Officers described that prior to a public consultation on whether to extend the 
service, work to ascertain the precise demand was necessary. The required 
resources and resident expectations were not fully understood and it was not 
yet confirmed that extending the handyman service was the correct solution 
for every estate. This work would be completed by the end of the calendar 
year.  
 
Definition of a decent home 
 
The Committee noted the update in the report.  
 
RESOLVED –  
That the report be noted.  
 
 

60. TASKFORCE ON SOCIAL VALUE PROCUREMENT  
 
The Committee received a report from the Scrutiny Manager presenting the 
final report and recommendations from the Taskforce on Social Value 
Procurement.  
 
Cllr Coleman highlighted the context of the report and explained that in 
2013/14 the Council spent £306million contracting with 3,427 different 
organisations for services, supplies and works. Of this, only £8.6million was 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

spent on local SMEs (Small and Medium Enterprises) and just £2.1million 
with micro-businesses in the Borough. He described that the intent of the 
recommendations was to change the Council’s approach to procurement to 
deliver maximum levels of social value and wider benefit for the community. It 
was not a question of the Council spending more, but spending better.  
 
Noting the recommendation regarding sub-contractors being required to pay 
as promptly as the Council, a resident argued that the Council was not itself a 
prompt payer recently. Cllr Coleman explained that the Council had recently 
moved onto a new payment and accounting platform and that there had been 
significant issues implementing the new system. Cllr Fennimore reported that 
the Leader of the Council was looking at all issues and reviewing the teething 
problems to address the negative impact on service.  
 
A resident asked how the Council countered any efforts from businesses to 
charge higher prices because the public sector was perceived as being soft in 
negotiations. Officers explained that before procuring goods or services, the 
Council went to the open market to understand what the costs should be and 
who the main providers are. For smaller markets one to one discussions are 
held with the providers while a sample of providers was used for more mature 
and established markets. In such conversations the Council makes it clear 
what its desired outcomes are and engages providers to understand their 
commercial drivers. This communication also helps to draw out ways in which 
the Council could make it easier for a provider to deliver a service, which 
further drives down costs. The award criteria for every contract need to be 
publicly stated and value for money demonstrated.  
 
Mr Battle from the Social Value Portal highlighted the work conducted by Lord 
Young on behalf of the Government and his finding that seeking out 
opportunities for social value could have a positive impact of between 10 and 
20%. In effect, this meant that the £306million spent by the Council in 
2013/14 could have achieved up to £360million of local benefit. Mr Battle also 
emphasised the importance of breaking down the barrier between the private 
and public sectors and to build market capacity in partnership. It was also 
important to remember that large, international companies were also capable 
of delivering social value. Mr Battle also suggested that the Council should 
work with other public bodies in the Borough to make the impact of a shared 
social value policy even greater.  
 
Members of the Committee highlighted the challenges faced by smaller 
businesses when they were required to complete a full Pre-Qualifying 
Questionnaire (PQQ) as part of the tendering process. It was suggested by 
some members that the threshold for contracts which required a PQQ should 
be raised and that the PQQ should be streamlined to remove unnecessary 
questions. Cllr Coleman explained that the Taskforce recommendations 
included simplifying the PQQ and removing barriers for smaller firms. 
However it was the view of the Taskforce that raising the threshold on its own 
would be sufficient to help local businesses compete.  
 
It was asked what the vision for Council procurement in three years’ time was 
and Cllr Coleman explained that he hoped that there would be more local 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

people in work with more local firms tendering with the Council. It was also 
hoped that more Council money would be spent with local businesses and 
third sector organisations with a much larger and more developed local 
supply chain. It would also be important to ensure that such work was 
measured and recorded properly to ensure there was quantifiable evidence 
that the policy was delivering the intended results. Shani Lee from the Desta 
Consortium highlighted that if the policy worked well, then the borough would 
also have a thriving voluntary sector, which was in decline elsewhere.  
 
Members discussed the importance of ensuring value for money was 
delivered by all public contracts, and it was asked how the proposed policy 
would reflect this. Officers explained that procurement regulations required 
councils to be extremely transparent on the contract award criteria. As such if 
the published award criteria included social value requirements and was 
sufficiently robust, it would be legal. The Committee was also informed that 
according to the regulations, value for money included the economic 
wellbeing of an area.  
 
RESOLVED –  
That the Final Report of the Taskforce on Social Value Procurement be 
approved and forwarded to the Cabinet for its consideration.  
 
 

61. DRAFT RESPONSE TO THE GOVERNMENT'S BUSINESS RATES 
REVIEW  
 
The Committee received a report from the Scrutiny Manager proposing a 
Council response to the Government’s review of business rates. The 
proposed response was based on the work of the Business Rates Scrutiny 
Task Group which reported its findings in 2014. 
 
Some members proposed that the Council’s approach should focus on the 
existing opportunities that local authorities had to offer reductions to 
businesses. For example in Brent they gave a reduction to businesses paying 
their staff the London Living Wage. Cllr Coleman explained that the aspiration 
for the Council was to increase businesses locally and increase their income. 
Reductions in business rates cost the Council money and diverted funds 
away from supporting more vulnerable residents. He also argued that 
lowering business rates would not increase local footfall for a struggling 
business and so was not addressing wider issues. The Council was therefore 
advocating a more dynamic and entrepreneurial approach with initiatives such 
as vinyl-wrapping empty shops. 
 
Cllr Phibbs requested that research into the impact of business rate reduction 
schemes used elsewhere be considered at a future meeting of the 
Committee.  
 
Members also requested that officers explore strengthening the Council’s 
response to question seven of the consultation to include more detail on 
initiatives that could be supported.  
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

RESOLVED –  
That the draft response be agreed and submitted to the Government’s 
consultation.  
 
 

62. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The dates of future meetings were agreed as follows:  

• Tuesday 7th July 2015 

• Tuesday 8th September 2015  

• Tuesday 3rd November 2015  

• Tuesday 1st December 2015  

• Tuesday 19th January 2016 

• Tuesday 8th March 2016 

• Wednesday 20th April 2016  
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00pm 
Meeting ended: 9.17 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Craig Bowdery 
Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 �: 020 8756 2278 
 E-mail: craig.bowdery@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

Page 7



 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

ECONOMIC REGENERATION, HOUSING & THE ARTS 
POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
 

7 July 2015 

HOUSING STRATEGY SECOND PHASE OF CONSULTATION ON THE COUNCIL’S 
HOUSING ALLOCATION SCHEME; TENANCY STRATEGY; AND HOME BUY 
ALLOCATION SCHEME DRAFT DOCUMENTS 
 

Report of the Executive Director  
 

Open Report 
 

Classification - For PAC review and comment 
Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Executive Director: Mike England, Lead Director for Housing 
 

Report Author: Aaron Cahill, Interim Housing 
Strategy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 1649  
E-mail: aaron.cahill@lbhf.gov.uk   

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The Council’s 11 May 2015 Cabinet meeting adopted the Housing 
Strategy Delivering the change we need. This document sets out the 
Council’s housing direction of travel and priorities for the borough’s 
housing. This necessitates a number of further actions including consulting 
on the Council’s proposed Housing Allocation Scheme; Home Buy 
Allocation Scheme; and Tenancy Strategy which this report focuses on. 
Approval for consultation was given in the decision on 11 May 2015.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the Policy and Accountability Committee:    
 
  2.1.1 Notes the consultation on the Council’s proposed Housing 

Allocation Scheme; Tenancy Strategy; and Home Buy Allocation 
Scheme (Annexes A-C).   

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 8



 2.1.2 Notes that following consideration of the consultation responses, 
there will be a further report to the Cabinet in Autumn 2015 
seeking approval for the final versions of the documents 
identified in 2.1.1.    

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. The Council in its Housing Strategy adopted on 11 May 2015 undertook to 
consult on its Housing Allocation Scheme; Home Buy Allocation Scheme; 
and Tenancy Strategy draft documents. Each of these draft documents 
reflect changes in policy identified in the Cabinet Report and the Housing 
Strategy, which was the subject of a consultation process earlier this year. 

 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. The adoption of the Housing Strategy by Cabinet on 11 May 2015 triggers 
the need for consultation on other documents that will deliver three of the 
16 action plan objectives identified in Delivering the change we need in 
housing.  
 

4.2. As well as reflecting revised policy positions on housing allocation and 
tenancy issues, the documents also reflect updates arising from changes 
in Mayoral policy; publication of government regulations; case law and 
judicial reviews; refinement of definitions; other updates and corrections to 
previous documents; and other drafting changes made by Council officers 
following consultation. The format of the annexed documents are broadly 
similar to that of documents previously adopted, but changes in policy as 
described in the Housing Strategy have been made.  
 

4.3. The key documents are as follows:-  
 

Annex A – Draft Housing Allocation Scheme  
Annex B – Draft Tenancy Strategy 
Annex C – Draft Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

 
4.4 Annex D comprises some Powerpoints which illustrate the proposed 

changes in some more detail, with the full information set out in Annexes 
A-C.   

 
5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1 Following the adoption of the Housing Strategy, changes that will feature in 
the documents identified include the following:  

5.2 Housing Allocation Scheme: It is proposed to amend the overcrowding 
qualifying criteria from 2 bedroom need to a 1 bedroom need; to relax the 
medical condition qualifying criteria  from ‘severely affected’ to ‘moderately 
affected’; and, local residency qualifying criteria to be changed from ‘five 
years’ to ‘five out of the previous seven years’.  

Page 9



5.3 Tenancy Strategy: It is proposed that the Council re-introduce lifetime 
tenancies for general needs applicants, but  retain the option to grant fixed 
term tenancies for particular categories of applicant, primarily for those who 
have a history of criminal or anti-social behaviour or applicants who are 
eligible and qualify for accommodation through the adoption of a Local 
Lettings Plan.  Also included is some narrative on the Council’s approach 
to affordable rents in the borough, refining the approach set out in the 
Council’s Housing Strategy. 

5.4 Home Buy Allocation Scheme: It is proposed that the revised Home Buy 
Allocation Scheme will include reference to the ‘thirds’ approach to 
affordability, with intermediate housing products income bands of up to 
£29,000; up to £43,550; up to £50,550 which will be index linked to the 
Average Weekly Earnings Index (AWEI).   

6. CONSULTATION 

6.1. An initial consultation process was undertaken during January and March 
2015 on the proposed Draft Housing Strategy. The documents annexed to 
this Cabinet Member Decision document have been guided by the policies 
set out in the Draft Housing Strategy and comments that informed the final 
iteration adopted by Cabinet.  
 

6.2 This second phase of consultation will take place from late June 2015 to 
early Autumn 2015, allowing some time for the August break. The intention 
is to contact Tenant & Residents Associations; housing associations; the 
Deputy Mayor of London for Housing and Land and his Greater London 
Authority officers; third sector agencies; and key interest groups (e.g., local 
homelessness and housing advisory organisations).  

 
6.3 The intention is to achieve a good degree of contact with the interested 

parties identified above, but accepting that these are ‘detail’ documents 
which be of interest to specific audiences rather than the wider audience 
that the Housing Strategy consultation process sought to engage with. It 
should also be noted that there will be significant resident engagement in 
June/July 2015 concerning the work of Residents’ Commission, so officers 
will need to be mindful of the time available that resident representatives 
have to engage.  

 
6.4 On the basis that the consultation process begins in late June 2015, it is 

proposed to end the consultation process on Wednesday 16 September 
2015 in order to meet the necessary timelines to achieve a Cabinet 
decision on all the documents by Autumn 2015.   
 

7. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1. A full equalities impact assessment (EqIA) was undertaken for the Housing 
Strategy adopted by Cabinet on 11 May 2015. This document may need to 
be updated to reflect  changes adopted to the three documents following 
consultation.   
 

Page 10



8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

 8.1 Before adopting an Housing Allocation scheme, or altering a scheme to 
reflect a major change of policy, Section 166A (13) of the Housing Act 
1996 requires the Council to consult with every Private Registered 
Provider with which we have nomination arrangements. 

8.2 Pursuant to Section 151 of the Localism Act the Council is also required to 
consult with Private Registered Housing Providers and the Mayor of 
London before making a modification to the Tenancy Strategy.  

 8.3 Implications verified/completed by: Janette Mullins. Principal Solicitor 
(Housing Litigation) 020 8753 2744. 

 
9. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The costs of consultation relating to proposals for the Council’s Housing 
Allocation Scheme, Tenancy Strategy and Home Buy Allocation Scheme 
are not envisaged to be significant (unless additional staff are required) as 
the resources for this process are expected to be substantially drawn from 
existing staff time. A maximum provisional sum of £5,000 has been 
identified for routine consultation costs, e.g., production of consultation 
materials, room bookings, internal recharges, etc, but actual costs are 
expected to be less than this figure.  

 
9.2 The costs and benefits of changes in policy will need to be carefully 

considered.  In the event that the Council proposes to proactively support 
affordable housing supply through use of its own resources and a Housing 
Allocation Scheme that increases the size of the Housing Register, more 
detailed comments on the potential revenue and capital costs associated 
with such approaches will be provided for consideration by Cabinet at the 
appropriate time.  

 
9.3 Implications verified/completed by: Kathleen Corbett, Director of Finance 

and Resources, 020 8753 3031. 
 
10.  IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS 
 
10.1 There are no implications for business directly arising from this Cabinet 

Member Decision.   
 

11.      RISK MANAGEMENT  

11.1 Failure to consult may affect future decision making, service standards 
and the reputation of the Council. The recommendations therefore 
contribute positively to the management of this risk noted as risk 12 on the 
Shared Services Risk Register. 

 
11.2 Implications completed by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk 

Manager, Telephone 020 8753 2587. 
 

Page 11



12.       PROCUREMENT AND IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS 
 
12.1 There are no procurement or information technology implications directly 

arising from this report.  
 
12.2 Implications verified/completed by: Robert Hillman, Procurement 

Consultant (HRD), x1538 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
Annex A – Draft Housing Allocation Scheme  
Annex B – Draft Tenancy Strategy 
Annex C – Draft Home Buy Allocation Scheme 
Annex D – Powerpoints illustrating proposed changes 

 

Page 12



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council 

 

Housing Allocation 
Scheme 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2015  

 

Page 13



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

2 

 Housing Allocation Scheme Consultation  

The Council is seeking your views on what you think of this Draft Housing Allocation 
Scheme. The document sets out the ‘rules’ that govern who can join the Council’s 
Housing Register and what priority they are likely to be given for suitable 
accommodation which includes affordable rented housing from the Council and housing 
associations as well as other types of suitable accommodation.   
 
To access this Draft Housing Allocation Scheme electronically, go to 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/housingconsultation   
 
If you:  
 

• Want a paper copy of the Housing Allocation Scheme document 

• Have any questions about this Housing Allocation Scheme document and would 
like to discuss them 

• Want a clearer explanation of what we are proposing 

• Want to meet someone from the Council to discuss the Draft Scheme or would 
like someone to attend a meeting 

• Want to send a response  
 
please contact Aaron Cahill, Interim Housing Strategy Manager  on 020 8753 1649 or 
email  housingconsultation@lbhf.gov.uk and we will respond as soon as we can. You 
can also write to us at the office address below.  
 
The Council will collate responses from:  
 

• Consultation survey responses (written and electronically)  

• Interviews and discussions with individuals and group meetings 

• Written submissions received from individuals and organisations  

• Notes from consultation meetings  
 
If you want a paper copy of the Housing Allocation Scheme document, survey call or 
email us using the contact details above.   
 
If you want to submit a paper copy of any response you want to make, please send it  
to:  
 
Housing Strategy Team  
Housing Department  
First Floor, 145 King St  
London W6 9XY  
 
Submissions in response to this consultation process must be submitted by 5pm 
Wednesday 16th September 2015. 
 

Page 14



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

3 

Housing Strategy Consultation Process January - March 2015  

We consulted with interested parties during early 2015 on the Housing Strategy, 
seeking views on the ‘direction of travel’ that we wanted to take. We have now adopted 
our Housing Strategy and have undertaken to consult further on the detail of individual 
documents. The other documents we are consulting on are the Housing Allocation 
Scheme and the Home Buy Allocation Scheme. People took some time and effort to 
respond to what we published and we have set out below some of what they said. The 
comments below relate to the Council’s proposed approach to the Housing Allocation 
Scheme.  

We asked you three questions:  

The first survey question was: What do you think we should do about the 
Housing Allocation Scheme five-year residency test? 

39% of all respondents have stated ‘Keep it at five years’; this is followed by ‘Make it 
longer than five years’ (21%) and ‘Reduce it to less than five years’ (15%). 13% of the 
respondents would like to see it removed altogether while 11% would like to see it 
flexible. 

Comments included:  
 
“Allocations systems that do not have a residency limit undermine stable communities 
so some form of limit is useful.  The flexibility of the five in seven options caters for the 
possibility that residents have to move out of borough for a time in the search for 
affordable housing.”  
 
“I believe other considerations need to be taken into account as well. If there is a reason 

someone has had to move into the area and is there for the intent to stay than if they 
meet the requirements they should be allowed on the list.” – female, private rented, full-

time work, SW6 
 
“People that have lived in the borough should have a priority.” – female, council tenant, 
part-time work, W12 
 

“Five years is about right for expecting your local authority to house you. There 
obviously needs to be flexibility to help key workers and their families.” – male, owner 

outright, full-time work, W6 
 
“We need to create stronger communities as they have been weakened greatly.  The 
residency test should remain at five years except in cases where key work is being 
undertaken, people need to move near an elderly parent or family member to give 
support in health care, or any other emergency measure such as domestic violence.  
Most newcomers head for London and it is folly to continue to allow this. There is too 
much overcrowding, not enough housing and all this entails is more landlords putting 
rents ever higher and more people claiming benefit because of a lack of work.  The big 

Page 15



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

4 

jobs fair in Hammersmith a few years ago highlighted this problem - thousands wanting 
work being turned away because there were just too many and not enough jobs.” – 
female, council tenant, unable to work, SW6 
 
“Five years does seem a reasonable compromise and will help to avoid resentment that 

may arise when longstanding H&F residents see others jumping ahead of them.”  
 
“Some people are unable to secure stable accommodation within a single borough for a 
period of 5 years continuously. Some of these people are likely to be the people that the 
borough should be supporting due to vulnerability.” – male, owner outright, full-time 
work, W10 
 

“Shows commitment to the Borough” – owner outright, unemployed, SW6 
 
"When I moved to the Borough the 5 year rule was not in place.  I needed to move to 
help my son and daughter-in-law with their new baby.  I therefore think that proof of 
family reasons should enable inclusion on the list.  5 years is too long in the capital city 
when people move more frequently, or have to move just out of the borough when 
having to move from a privately rented property - this has happened to members of my 
family.” – female, council tenant, retired, W12 
 

"There is such a shortage of housing for the existing families these should be priority 
first as they have contributed to the local areas and facilities in council tax and local 

businesses.” – male, owner outright, retired, SW6 
 
“It helps local people build a stake and gives local young people a chance.” – male, 
owner outright, full-time work, W6 
 

“The council needs to be able to balance the need to be able to assist those in genuine 
need and simply having people on the list that cannot be helped.” – male, housing 

association tenant, full-time work 
 
“I believe there should be a history and connection to the area before being able to join 
the housing list to allow those that have lived in the borough a fair chance of being able 
to get housing if they need it & prevent those from other London boroughs being able to 
relocate to the area from anywhere in the country simply because they like the area.” – 
council tenant, retired, SW6 
 

“A level of flexibility needs be provided potentially different from the one above. This 
needs to allow for individual cases that mean families can reside close to each other for 

the benefit that that can bring.” – housing association tenant 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

5 

The second survey question was: Currently, applicants must have a need for an 
additional two bedrooms to qualify for the housing register. The council is considering 
reducing this requirement to one extra bedroom. Do you agree? 
 
Responses to the Survey: 63% of the respondents agreed with the proposal while 

21% disagreed. 

 
Comments included:  
 
"A need is a need. I think it should always be considered.” – female, private rented, full-
time work, SW6 
 

“Some people are bringing up children in small places with no hope of moving into a 
bigger property but seem to manage.” – female, council tenant, full-time work, W12 

 
“Residents in the borough deserve to be housed decently not forced into overcrowding.” 
– owner outright, retired, SW6 
 

“Really the key points are to define "need" correctly and enforce the rules to prevent 
abuse.” – owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work 

 
“When you have children it is important that at certain ages they do need their own 
rooms or rooms shared with children of the same sex.” – male, owner outright, full-time 
work, W6 
 

“There is already a shortage, decreasing this requirement will increase this shortage.”  
 
“The council have no hope of actually offering accommodation to all those extra families 
so all they are doing is increasing expectation of rehousing and then letting people 
down.” – owner outright, part-time work 
 

“By reducing this to one bedroom demand will go up and this will clog the system.” – 
owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 

 
“Social housing should meet a need, no more. Save the money to help the homeless 
instead.” – owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 
 

“People should not have children and expect to get a bigger property. If you are 
allocated a two bedroom flat don't go on to have 3 more children. You have made 

yourself overcrowded.” – female, council tenant, full-time work, W12 
 
“At least, there should be more flexibility around this requirement. I have friends who 
have severely disabled children who are disruptive during the night and therefore impact 
the entire family.” – housing association tenant, part-time work, W12 
 

Page 17



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

6 

“This is against the need for social housing people who need an extra 2. Bedrooms 
must be in greater need than those for one bedroom.” – male, owner outright, retired, 

SW6  
 
“Again I can't see the need why someone wanting to get on the housing register would 
require all that space for their family needs. I do not believe the housing register is for 
these kinds of people who think the taxpayer should always foot the bill for their 
lifestyle." – male, private rented, unemployed, W6  
 

“A small extra room is essential to all families, somewhere for children to work quietly, 
teenagers to study when sharing bedrooms, in times of illness, allowing all to pursue 

hobbies, relatives and friends coming to stay, space for prams, sports equipment, 
laundry, hobbies, and many, many, more.” – private rented 

 

The third survey question was: To what extent do you agree that that council 
should continue to give greater priority to eligible applicants if they are from one 
of the following groups? 

The background to this question was as follows: These are currently applicants who are 
working; volunteering; In training or education; ex-armed service personnel; registered 
foster carers and adopters; carers; people with disabilities; older residents; certain 
categories of young people 25 years old or under. 

Responses to the Survey: 77% of the respondents agreed with the proposal while 
12% disagreed. 

 
Comments included:   
 
“The list is a mix of things presumably thought to be worthwhile and things that affect a 
resident's ability to secure a suitable, affordable home given the local housing market. 
The allocation system should focus just on the latter.”  
 

“I believe these people are the ones with the greater need. While I sympathise with 
those who are in terrible circumstances if made too easy people will abuse these rights 

and expect this rather than earn it.” – female, private rented, full-time work, SW6 
 
“Too little is done for working people.” – female, council tenant, part-time work, W12 
 

“Don't agree with volunteers.” – female, council tenant, full-time work, W12 
 
“I feel strongly the community benefits from having people who contribute to the 
community be able to live here.” – female, owner outright, part-time work, SW6 
 

“Not sure about adding young people. If they cannot afford adequate housing they 
should move to find work (as I had to!)” – female, private rented, full-time work, W14 

Page 18



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

7 

 
“People who have shown a loyalty & they contribute to society/& their local 
boroughs/community etc, should be rewarded. Obviously people with proven disabilities 
physically & mentally have to be helped.”  
 

“This appears to me to be a fair priority list.” – male, owner outright, full-time work, W6 
 
“This group are the vulnerable and hardworking people who contribute to the borough 
and need to be considered first which I totally agree.” – homeless, part-time work, W12 
 

“I am passionately against giving extra priority just because someone is in work as 
many who are not in work are out of work because they cannot work due to health 

reasons. There are also people who may have lost jobs and are having difficulty getting 
further work. This does not make them any less worthy of a home and many have given 
years to both working and volunteering in the past, far more years than many now have 

to do before qualifying.  It is nothing but an insult and hopefully not worthy of the new 
council policies.” – female, council tenant, unable to work, SW6 

 
“Volunteering and to a certain extent, fostering, should not encourage people who are 
seeking to gain a benefit of a council house by carrying out what has always been 
something done from the heart rather than gain.  There are many people who may want 
to foster who cannot because they are told they need an extra bedroom - it would be 
better to see good foster carers who are willing to give up their bedroom to look after a 
child than the other way around - you do not need an extra bedroom to want to foster - it 
is different for those who have been fostering for years and have the extra bedroom in 
the first place, and who have shown that this is their vocation. 
Again carers - this should depend upon how often they stay over, how long they have 
been caring for, and how long they a person is likely to need a live in carer, with live in 
emphasised.  I do not agree that family carers who have been caring for a long time 
should be booted out of the property when the caring comes to an end, which was 
suggested once at a meeting.  Again, this should depend on the situation not be a given 
across the board - as should be the case with foster parents and even armed service 
personnel.” – female, council tenant, unable to work, SW6 
 

“Older people, by the very fact of their age and vulnerability, should be given housing 
under any circumstances. Again, each case should be looked at and sheltered 

accommodation should really be given firstly to those who are the most vulnerable.  
Along with this disability is a big issue.  No one who will be isolated by the 

accommodation they are given should have to remain in these circumstances. I believe 
every help should be given.” – female, council tenant, unable to work, SW6 

  
”We need to give housing to nurses, carers and teachers.” – male, owner outright, 
retired, W6 
 
"Working people must have absolute priority, especially those that work in the area. Ex-

service people are also very deserving." – owner outright, part-time work, SW6 

Page 19



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

8 

 
“I think people with mental health problems who have a support network in the borough 
should also be given priority.” – female, owner outright, part-time work, SW6 
 

“Why not reward people who do well or incentivise people to try and achieve? I think 
this policy is refreshing in that it finally gives some credibility to the notion that people 

who work / volunteer / contribute are (shockingly!) rewarded by state systems, credibility 
which has been seriously lacking in this country for the last 30+ years. This part of the 

policy also helps to create and keep mixed communities on our Estates. Also, if you 
keep the 5 year residency rule then you are assured that it is local 'contributors' 

(residents) who benefit from this.” – owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 
 
“A difficult one. Community engagement is undoubtedly a good thing and there's a 
strong argument for incentivising and rewarding it - but on the other hand maybe people 
need a secure home before they can do it?” – female, council tenant, full-time work, W6 
 

“The assumption is that the council know what the greatest housing needs are within 
the borough, and your priorities reflect this.” – male, housing association tenant, full-

time work 
 
“Priority of housing to those listed above seems to be unfair because those unemployed 
should have priority as it should be equal opportunity for all that live locally, instead of 
discriminating between society e.g. employed and unemployed people causing 
segregation in communities.” – male, council tenant, full-time work, W12 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

9 

Housing Allocation Scheme Index Page       

   

1.  Introduction  
 
2. Priorities for the Allocation of Accommodation 
 

• Eligibility  

• Qualification and Reasonable Preference  

• Exceptional Cases including Classes of Persons who do not qualify  

• Local Residency Qualification 

• Assessing your application 

• Condition and Size of Accommodation 

• Suitability of Housing Offers 

• Transfers 

• Local Lettings Plans 

• Right to Move 
 
3. Tenancy Matters including Succession and Flexible Tenancies  
 

• Council Tenants 

• Tenants who need to be decanted 

• Management Transfers for Council Tenants  

• Housing Association Tenants  

• Tenancy Succession  

• Service Tenancies  

• Sustaining a Tenancy  

• Approach to Secure and Flexible Tenancies  

• Investigation of Fraud: Offences related to information given or  
withheld by applicants  

• Community Contribution and Tenancy Renewals  

• Accessing Affordable Market Housing  
 
4. How the Council Allocates Properties  
 

• The Property Pool and Assisted Choice  

• How the Property Pool Works in Practice  

• Exceptions to Assisted Choice  

• Types of Property  

• Selection of Property  

• Homeswap 

• Mutual Exchanges  

• Reciprocal Nomination Arrangements 

• Accessible Housing  

• Housing Moves (previously known as the Pan London Mobility Scheme) 

Page 21



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

10 

• Annual Lettings Plan 

• Average Waiting Time on the Housing Register 
 
5. Procedures for Requesting Information, Appeals and Reviews  
 

• Requesting Information 

• Appeals 

• Right of Review – Homeless Applicants  
 
6. General Rules and Conditions   
 

• Decisions  

• Requests for Assistance  

• Persons Eligible for Assistance  

• Evidence of Identity and Housing Circumstances 

• Income and Resources  

• Changes of Circumstances 

• Members of the Council, Staff Members and their Relations 

• Equal Opportunities and Monitoring  

• Confidentiality  

• Data Protection and Privacy Notice  

• Role of the Priority Housing Panel  
 
Annexes  
 
Annex 1 - Sizes of Homes  
 
Annex 2 – Community Contribution: How Priority is Awarded   
 
Annex 3 – Hammersmith & Fulham’s Housing Bands – Summary Guide of Criteria  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 22



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

11 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 This Housing Allocation Scheme sets out the ‘rules’ by which affordable housing 

and other accommodation available to the council is allocated to applicants who 
are eligible and qualify to be on the Council’s Housing Register. The council is 
required by law to produce this document which must comply with primary 
legislation (i.e., acts of parliament) and secondary legislation (principally 
government regulations) and have regard to guidance documents that are 
periodically issued.  

 
1.2 This Scheme replaces the previously adopted Housing Allocation Scheme 

(December 2012). Whilst the structure and sequence of the Scheme is broadly 
the same, changes have been made to the content which are intended to make 
the council’s approach to reflect the policy direction set out in the administration’s 
manifesto, Delivering the change we need in housing and reflected in the 
Housing Strategy adopted in May 2015.  

 
1.3 The Scheme will be monitored on an ongoing basis and reviewed from time to 

time, particularly when regulatory changes are introduced or new case law 
requires a change in approach. The Director of Housing responsible for Housing 
Options in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing may make minor 
amendments to the Scheme (and approve any associated documents such as 
Local Lettings Plans) if required. Before making any major alterations to the 
scheme reflecting  major policy changes the Council is required to consult with 
Registered Providers (housing associations) and allow them the opportunity to 
comment on the alterations.   

 
1.4 For the purposes of this document the term ‘applicant’ will also mean joint 

applicants, where appropriate. The term applicant (or applicants) will also mean 
person (or persons) as defined in legislation and government guidance. 
Dependent members (e.g., the applicant’s children) will be described as 
household members.   

 
2.  PRIORITIES FOR THE ALLOCATION OF ACCOMMODATION  
 
2.1 This section focuses on:  
 

• Eligibility  

• Qualification and Reasonable Preference  

• Exceptional Cases including Classes of Persons who do not qualify  

• Local Residency Qualification   

• Condition and Size of Accommodation  

• Suitability of Housing Offers 

• Transfers 

• Local Lettings Plans 
  

Page 23



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

12 

Eligibility  
 
2.2  Any person can approach the Council’s Housing Options Division for housing 

advice and assistance. However, the amount of accommodation in Hammersmith 
& Fulham is very limited, and the Council does not operate an ‘open’ system 
whereby any person can be registered. Instead, the Council will operate a 
managed register approach with standard checks for eligibility undertaken, but 
with a tighter approach as to who qualifies to be on the register. Where the 
Council is unable to give support to applicants through registration, it will be able 
to provide housing options advice and support.   

 
2.3 In terms of eligibility, any person who does not fall into one of the categories 

below will be a person subject to immigration control and will be ineligible for an 
allocation of accommodation.  

 
 (i)  British citizens  
 (ii)  certain Commonwealth citizens with a right of abode in the UK  
 (iii)  citizens of an European Economic Area (EEA) country (‘EEA nationals’1) 

and their family members who have a right to reside in the UK that derives from 
EU law. The question of whether an EEA national (or family member) has a 
particular right to reside in the UK (or in another Member State) will depend on 
the circumstances, particularly the economic status of the EEA national (e.g., 
whether he or she is a worker, self-employed, a student, or economically 
inactive) 

 (iv)  persons who are exempt from immigration control under the Immigration 
Acts, including diplomats and their family members based in the UK and some 
military personnel.  

 
2.4 This means that people subject to immigration control and certain other people 

from abroad (outside the categories identified above) will not usually be eligible 
for accommodation arranged by the Council.  

 
2.5 More generally, the council will decide in each case as to whether the people 

included in the application by the applicant will be considered as a part of the 
household. For example, the council will generally not consider the following as 
members of a household: people who are subject to immigration control (as set 
out above);  non-dependent adult children; other adult relatives;   non-relatives;  
lodgers;  ‘live in’ help. Furthermore due to a shortage of properties with 4 
bedrooms or more the council will discuss with large households whether they 
can be divided into two or more smaller households.  

 
2.6 The statutory provisions  regarding eligibility and qualification are set out in   

s 160ZA  of the 1996 Housing Act as amended by the 2011 Localism Act.  

                                                           
1
 EEA nationals are nationals of any EU member state (except the UK) and nationals of Iceland, Norway, 

Liechtenstein and Switzerland)  

Page 24



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

13 

 
Qualification and Reasonable Preference  
 
2.7 Central to any Housing Allocation Scheme is ensuring that ‘reasonable 

preference’ is given to people with high levels of assessed housing need. In 
drafting this Housing Allocation Scheme, the Council has had regard to CLG’s 
Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England. 
Reasonable preference groups are defined as follows:  

 

• All homeless people as defined in Part VII of the 1996 Housing Act 
including people who are intentionally homeless and those who are not in 
priority need 

• People who are owed a duty by an housing authority under section 190(2), 
193(2) or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the 
Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any 
housing authority under s192(3) 

• People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions 

• People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including 
grounds relating to disability  

• People who need to move to a particular locality in the housing authority 
area, whose failure to meet that need would cause hardship (to 
themselves or others) which includes those needing to move on ‘Right to 
Move’ grounds (see Section 2.51 for more information) 

 
2.8 In framing this Housing Allocation Scheme the Council intends to give effect to 

s.166A(3) of the 1996 Housing Act (as amended); housing authorities should 
have regard to the following considerations:  

 

• The scheme must be framed so as to give reasonable preference to 
applicants who fall within the categories set out in s.166A(3), over those who 
do not 

• Although there is no requirement to give equal weight to each of the 
reasonable preference categories, housing authorities will need to 
demonstrate that, overall reasonable preference has been given to all the 
reasonable preference categories 

• There is no requirement for housing authorities to frame their scheme to 
afford greater priority to applicants who fall within more than one reasonable 
preference category (cumulative preference) over those who have reasonable 
preference on a single non-urgent basis 

 
2.9 In respect of Hammersmith & Fulham’s Housing Allocation Scheme, the Council 

intends to ensure that all successful applicants have reasonable preference. But 
it will give ‘additional preference’ to applicants who are making a community 
contribution. The Council is obliged to provide advice, information and assistance 
to all applicants, even if they are likely to be unsuccessful with their application 

Page 25



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

14 

for accommodation. To be considered for housing, all applicants must 
complete an application form in accordance with the requirements of this 
Housing Allocation Scheme.  Application Forms should be completed online 
using the Council’s ‘My Account’ service which can be accessed on the Council’s 
website at www.lbhf.gov.uk . We understand that some applicants may not be 
able to apply in this way. If this is the case, they should:  

• Visit us or write to us at 145 King Street, Hammersmith, London W6 9XY   
• Telephone us at 0845 313 3935 for further information  
• Email us at h&fadvice.housing@lbhf.gov.uk for more information  

2.10 These are the only categories of people that the Council will consider for 
housing, except for Management transfers set out in Section 3 and where the 
Council adopts a Local Lettings Plan (See Sections 2.43 – 2.50). The latter may 
include new and existing accommodation in its five regeneration opportunity 
areas where specific outcomes are sought, such as mixed, balanced sustainable 
communities. Local Lettings Plans will be adopted to achieve this specific 
objective which may include offering accommodation to working households on 
the Council’s Home Buy Register on short fixed term tenancies (e.g., two years) 
who may be waiting for a home ownership option that is right for them, but are 
content to live in an alternative interim rented housing option.  

 
2.11 Except in case of Management Transfers or under a Local Lettings Plan and 

subject to the exceptions set out below, to qualify for an allocation of housing an  
applicant must meet at least one of the statutory ‘reasonable preference’ criteria, 
defined in section 2.7 and described in Annex 3 of this document. Applicants 
should seek advice as individual circumstances vary. Where the Council adopts 
a Local Lettings Plan (see Sections 2.43 – 2.50), the Council may seek to 
nominate eligible and qualifying applicants from the Homebuy Register for 
affordable rented housing (i.e., social rent or Affordable Rent). 

 
2.12 The council has a housing banding system which determines who will be 

prioritised for housing in the borough. The housing bands are summarised below 
and full details of what the criteria for individual cases will be are described in 
more detail in Annex 3:  
Band 1: Urgent Need to Move due to Reasonable Preference PLUS 
Additional Priority  

Band 2 Need to move – Reasonable Preference AND a Community 
Contribution  

Band 3 : Need to move – Reasonable Preference BUT NO Community 
Contribution  

Band 4: Reduced Priority: Need to Move - Reasonable Preference but with 
Reduced Priority 

Page 26



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

15 

2.13 The Council will only register eligible applicants who qualify to meet at least one 
of the reasonable preference criteria set out in Section 2.7 of this document 
(except for allocations under a Local Lettings Plan). Whilst the Council is giving 
clear preference to applicants making a community contribution, it is also keen to 
have qualifying criteria which better fits the supply of accommodation that the 
Council can reasonably have access to.  

 
Exceptional Cases including Classes of Person that do not Qualify  
 
2.14 the following classes of person will not normally qualify for registration:    
 

(a) Applicants who are single or a couple without dependents and who are 
overcrowded by only 1 bedroom and this is their only housing need 
 
(b) Applicants who have been convicted of housing or welfare benefits related 
fraud (including subletting) where that conviction is unspent under the 
Rehabilitation Offenders Act 1974. Any person caught by this may re-apply once 
this conviction is spent.  
 
(c)  Applicants who qualified for registration by reason of the Council having 
owed them the main homelessness duty, but the Council has ceased to be 
subject to that duty because of the refusal of a suitable offer.  
 
(d)  Applicants who are homeowners, including joint homeowners   
 
(e) Applicants who do not meet the local residency qualifications set out in 
section 2.21  
 
(f) Applicants whose income, savings and assets exceeds the limits set by the 
Council (see section 6.8).  
  
(g) Applicants who owe arrears of rent or other accommodation charges in 
respect of the current tenancy or former accommodation, unless an appropriate 
agreement has been reached and sustained for a reasonable period. In 
assessing the application for registration, the Council will take into account the 
size of the debt, the means to pay and the degree of the household’s need.  
 
(h) Applicants who have been guilty of unacceptable behaviour which makes 
them unsuitable to be a tenant. Examples of such unacceptable behaviour 
include:  

• persistent failure to pay rent and/or service charges;  

• anti-social behaviour which has caused a nuisance by the applicant or a 
member of his or her household;  

• no on-going culpable involvement in anti-social behaviour or criminal 
activities  

• illegal or immoral behaviour; 

Page 27



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

16 

• threats of and/or actual violence; racial harassment;  

• obtaining a tenancy by deception and/or an attempt at tenancy fraud.  

• breach of tenancy conditions within the last three years  
 
(i) Transfer applicants who have breached the terms of their tenancy by not 
looking after their home and causing  damage.  
 
(j) Applicants who are Secure tenants, assured tenants and assured shorthold 
tenants of registered providers (i.e., council landlords including arm’s length 
management organisations and housing associations) from outside the borough.   
 
 

2.15 There is discretion to waive these classes in exceptional circumstances as 
approved by the Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options or 
delegated officer who shall be a Head of Service.  

 
2.16 Applicants may also be eligible and qualify to meet the criteria necessary to 

access the Home Buy Register. Housing Options staff will be able to advise 
applicants on the necessary criteria.   

 
2.17 Acts of Violence and Aggression to employees will not be tolerated by the 

Council and any Applicant who threatens or uses violence towards any 
Council employee or contractor will be removed from the register 
immediately. 

 
2.18 The Council recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances where the 

only way an exceptional housing need can be resolved is through the use of 
discretion. In the interests of fairness to all these applicants these circumstances 
are kept to a minimum. Examples of exceptional circumstances include, but are 
not limited to:  

 

• Threat to life in the area in which they are residing.   

• Emergency cases whose homes are damaged by fire, flood or other disaster 
may be provided with other accommodation if it is not possible to repair the 
existing home, or if any work to repair is to take such a long period of time 
that there will be serious disruption to family life.  

• Households who, on police advice, must be moved immediately due to 
serious threats to one or more members of the household, or whose 
continuing occupation would pose a threat to the community.  

• Cases nominated under the Police Witness Protection Scheme or other 
similar schemes that the council has agreed to be part of.  

• An applicant who has an exceptional need that is not covered in the Housing 
Allocation Scheme. For example, where child or public protection issues 
require re-housing or for severe domestic abuse where all other options to 
remain in the home have been considered.  

 

Page 28



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

17 

2.19 Other exceptional circumstances will be authorised by the Director of Housing 
responsible for Housing Options.   

 
2.20 Where the Council decides that it wishes to make a discretionary offer where 

exceptional circumstances apply, the offer of a tenancy will normally be a 2 year 
tenancy (plus a year’s introductory tenancy). In the event the tenant is unable to 
sustain that tenancy, no further housing accommodation will be offered. This will 
not prevent the applicant receiving advice and support as necessary. All 
applicants who do not qualify under the criteria set out above may submit a new 
housing register application if their circumstances change. This will be 
considered against the criteria set out in this Housing Allocation Scheme.   

 
 
Local Residency Qualification  
 
2.21 Meeting a local residency qualification is a central tenet of this Housing Allocation 

Scheme. Local residency qualification within the terms of this scheme will 
normally mean that an applicant: 

 

•  has lived in this borough, through their own choice, for a minimum of five years 
up to and including the date of their application, or the date on which a decision 
is made on their application, whichever is later,   

  Or 

•  has been resident for a total of five out of the last seven years and are 
resident in the borough at the time of application.  

 
  2.21.1 Accepted homeless households placed by this authority in 

accommodation outside Hammersmith & Fulham will also meet the local 
residency qualification as long as they fulfil the five year (including five out of the 
last seven years) residential qualification (i.e., time spent placed  in previously 
designated temporary accommodation outside the borough will count towards 
time spent in Hammersmith & Fulham). 

 
  2.21.2 Applicants who are placed and funded by the Council in residential care 

(e.g., elderly in care and children in care) accommodation outside the borough 
will also qualify under the local residency rule.  

 
 2.21.3 Where applicants are applying jointly, both applicants must meet the local 

residency qualification, including household members. Children under 5 will not 
be disqualified from inclusion in the assessment on the basis of the residency 
criteria so long as they were born to parents resident in the borough.  
 
2.21.4 The local residency qualification may also be awarded to people who need 
to move to a particular locality in the borough, where failure to meet that need 
would cause exceptional hardship to themselves or to others.  

   

Page 29



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

18 

2.22 The local residency qualification will not be applied to the groups specified in  
The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces)(England) 
Regulations 2012. Local residency criteria will also not be applied to local 
applicants who have left Hammersmith & Fulham to attend a full time course at  a 
higher education institution outside the Borough, nor does it apply to applicants 
(existing social housing tenants only) seeking accommodation on Right to Move 
grounds.  

 
2.23 People in the following categories will not normally be considered as having met 

the local residency qualification are: 
 

• Those placed in the borough of Hammersmith & Fulham in temporary 
 accommodation by another local housing authority  

• Those placed in the borough of Hammersmith & Fulham in residential or 
 supported housing by another borough 

• Secure or flexible tenants of other boroughs 
 
Assessing your Application  
 
2.24  Applications for housing will be assessed by Housing Options Officers using 

information supplied by the applicant and as a result of further necessary 
enquiries that follow from an application. The Housing Options Officer will decide 
whether the applicant qualifies to join the register and if so, which band will apply. 
All qualifying applicants’ priority date will usually be the date of their application. 
However, if an applicant’s circumstances change and their banding changes 
upwards (e.g., from Band 3 to Band 2), their new priority date will be the date on 
which their banding priority changed.  Applicants whose banding priority date is 
reduced will retain their existing priority date. 

 
2.25  Applicants who are assessed as not qualifying for one of the Council’s Housing 

Bands will be offered housing advice and assistance as necessary.  
 

2.26  Medical priority will be awarded and banded according to the extent to which the 
health or welfare of one or more members of the applicant’s household is 
affected by their housing conditions and the expected benefits of providing 
suitable alternative settled housing. Applicants who are assessed as having an 
overriding welfare housing need will be placed in Band 1. The circumstances that 
justify this are detailed in Annex 3. Such priority will be approved by a panel of 
senior officers.   

 
2.27  Housing Options Officers will work with social services and other agencies to 

identify clients currently in supported housing who are ready for independent 
living. Subject to these discussions and agreement that the client’s housing 
needs cannot be met outside of social housing, these clients will be placed in 
Band 2, unless there is an urgent need to move in line with the Band 1 criteria.  

 

Page 30



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

19 

2.28 Housing Options Officers will work with Children’s Services and other agencies to 
identify clients currently in children’s care accommodation who are ready for 
independent living. Subject to discussion and agreement at the appropriate panel 
with the officers/agencies concerned, and there are no compelling reasons why 
the client’s housing needs cannot be met outside of social housing, these clients 
will be placed in Band 3. If the applicant meets the community contribution 
criteria,  then the client will be placed in  Band 2. 

 
2.29 In operating this Housing Allocation Scheme, the Council will have regard to the 

housing related aspects of the 2014 Care Act and work with officers from Adult 
Social Care and other officers of the council to ensure that all reasonable efforts 
are made to consider applicants’ housing and related care needs 

 
Condition and Size of Offered Accommodation  
 
2.30 All accommodation offered will be habitable, in reasonable repair and fit for 

letting. The size of accommodation for which each applicant will be considered 
will depend upon the size and composition of the applicant’s household at the 
time of offer. The requirements for each size of household are set out at Annex 1.  

 
2.31  Larger accommodation than specified in Annex 1 may be considered in 

exceptional circumstances on the recommendation of the Housing Options 
Officer and approved by a Panel of Senior  Officers. The Council may draw on  
specialist advice, for example the Council’s Medical Advisor, Occupational 
Therapy Service, or senior social worker.  

 
2.32  In calculating the number of bedrooms available within properties the Council 

may treat every habitable room as a bedroom except kitchens, bathrooms and 
kitchen/dining rooms. The Council will normally consider additional rooms in 
homes for use as bedrooms in accordance with Housing Benefit regulations.   

 
2.33  Cases of existing secure Council tenants agreed as Management Transfers will 

be offered homes on a ‘like for like ’ basis.  
 
2.34 Where the Council is discharging its homelessness duty into private rented 

accommodation, the accommodation should meet the suitability criteria set out in 
the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 2012 , subject 
to availability and affordability of accommodation.  

 
Suitability of Housing Offers  
 
2.35  Where accommodation is offered through the assisted choice process described 

below, an applicant will normally be expected to accept an offer of a property that 
meets their specified needs which is deemed as suitable and appropriate to meet 
the housing and medical needs of the household concerned.  

 

Page 31



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

20 

2.36  The Council will seek to take into account applicants’ particular or special needs  
(including need for an additional bedroom for carers) but it will not always be 
possible to ensure that these needs are met. In considering what is reasonable, 
the Council will have regard to the overall supply of Council accommodation and 
the demands placed upon it by all priority groups.  

 
2.37  As a guideline and subject to the individual circumstances of each application, 

the Council will normally consider that a property is suitable if:  
 

• It is located close to an area which the applicant has selected or an area that 
the Council considers to be reasonable.  

• It is sized in accordance with the criteria in Annex 1.  

• The offer takes account of any recommendation made by a medical  advisor.  
 

2.38  An offer of accommodation which is arranged by way of a nomination to a private 
registered provider will be considered to be as reasonable as an offer of a council 
tenancy.  

 
2.39  If a housing applicant refuses two reasonable offers of accommodation through 

the assisted choice scheme or a direct allocation, their priority under this 
allocation scheme will be reduced by a Band for twelve months. This will not 
necessarily mean no further offers will be made, but will reduce their priority.   

 
2.40   An exception to such a reduction in priority this may apply if there has been a 

material change in circumstances such that the offer of accommodation would no 
longer be suitable. 

 
2.41 The Council may use private rented housing to discharge its homelessness 

duties in appropriate cases pursuant to Section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) and the  Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) 
Order 2012.   

 
Local Lettings Plans  
 
2.43  The Council may adopt individual Local Lettings Plans to vary the allocations 

approach to homes for new schemes;  homes in certain areas of the borough; or 
particular types of housing where it wishes to deliver the broad housing strategy 
objectives, using social housing available as efficiently and effectively as 
possible.  

 
2.44 Section 166A(6) of the Housing Act 1996 enables local housing authorities to do 

this,  allowing the allocation of accommodation to people of a particular 
description, whether or not they fall within the reasonable preference categories.  

 
2.45 The simplest approach to delivering this objective would be through using the 

Council’s Home Buy Register, which includes applicants who wish to rent at sub 

Page 32



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

21 

market levels. Some of these households may be seeking to save money for a 
deposit to enter low cost home ownership which the Council is keen to 
encourage. This will give such households the experience of managing a 
household budget and also provide an opportunity for such households to save 
money towards a deposit for a low cost home ownership option.  

 
2.46 Separate qualification criteria will apply to those persons on the Home Buy 

Register who qualify for an allocation under a Local Lettings Plan. Persons who 
qualify will need to meet all of the following criteria:  

 
 1. Eligibility under the rules of this Housing Allocation Scheme (See Section 2.3 – 

2.6 of this document)  
 2. Qualifying criteria of the Home Buy Allocation Scheme 
 3. Successful application to be considered for a tenancy under a Local Lettings 

Plan meeting any specified qualifying criteria  
 4. Local residency qualification within the terms of this Housing Allocation 

Scheme (unless the applicant falls within Armed Forces Qualification Regulations 
or the Right to Move Regulations)  

 5. Satisfying the income threshold set out in paragraph 6.8  
 
2.47 The Council will from time to time set procedures for the operation of the scheme 

to allocate to applicants from the Home Buy Register and these procedures may 
include criteria for establishing priorities between persons who qualify. These 
procedures may include giving priority to those within the reasonable preference 
categories   

 
2.48 The Council’s broad approach will be to prioritise households from the Home Buy 

Register for Affordable Rent accommodation available from Private Registered 
providers (principally housing associations). Where the Council wishes to 
prioritise applicants who meet criteria associated with a Council-approved 
scheme which helps deliver housing options for one or more of the community 
contribution groups identified in Annex 2, these applicants may be prioritised for 
Council rented accommodation.  

 
2.49 The Council will monitor the impacts of this approach on both its Housing 

Register and Home Buy Register. It will need to ensure and make necessary 
interventions to ensure that the number of households drawn from the Homebuy 
Register who are not in a reasonable preference category do not dominate the 
Housing Allocation Scheme. It will also seek to ensure that the rules governing 
each of the approaches are broadly aligned.   

 
2.50 Before introducing a local lettings plan, the Council will consult with those who 

are likely to be affected, which shall include the residents of the scheme/area 
impacted by the plan and local social landlords. A copy of the final policy will be 
published on the Council’s website.  

 

Page 33



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

22 

Right to Move   

2.51 Government regulations on ‘Right to Move’ came into force on 20 April 2015. The 
regulations are intended to help existing social housing tenants who need to 
relocate from their local authority area (or within their local authority area) to an 
area where they have been offered employment. 

 
2.52 These regulations are applicable only to applicants who are already social 

housing tenants in England who would experience hardship to themselves or to 
others if they were unable to take up an offer of employment in the borough. 
Applicants who are seeking accommodation under the Right to Move regulations 
should contact the Council as described in Section 2.9 of this Housing Allocation 
Scheme.    

 
3. TENANCY MATTERS INCLUDING SUCCESSION AND FLEXIBLE 

TENANCIES  
 
Council Tenants  

 
3.1  Council tenants wishing to move from their existing home will be assessed 
in the same way as other applicants applying for the housing register under will 
need to meet the qualifying criteria set out in this Housing Allocation Scheme. 
Applications for transfer may be made jointly by separate tenants of the Council 
who wish to apply for housing together, on the condition that both tenancies will 
be relinquished if the Council makes an acceptable offer of a transfer to a third 
property. The Council will consider each application on a discretionary and case 
by case basis. Officers will have regard to the wider availability of 
accommodation to the Council when making such a decision which will be made 
by a panel of senior officers.  

 
Transfers, Tenants who need to be decanted, Management Transfers and London 
Mobility  
 
Transfers  
 
3.2 Transfer applicants will be considered in the same way as other housing register 

applicants. The Council expects existing tenants and household members to 
maintain their homes in a reasonable condition and similarly expects tenants of 
other Registered Providers to adopt the same approach.  If the existing home 
has been either significantly damaged and/or kept in a poor condition by the 
sitting tenant, the Council will not be minded to permit a transfer. A transfer will 
only be permitted when the property concerned is brought up to a good condition. 
The Council will expect other Registered Providers (normally housing 
associations) to adopt the same approach.  

 
 
 

Page 34



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

23 

Tenants who need to be decanted 
 
3.3  On occasion it may be necessary for a council tenant to move out of their existing 

home to allow major works to be carried out or because their home is due to be 
demolished. In these circumstances, the Council will use its discretion to 
prioritise a move to a suitable alternative home by placing the tenant in Band 1 at 
an appropriate time.  

 
3.4   Council tenants who have to move because major works are required to their 

home will have the option of moving back to their original home (or local area if 
the home is being demolished) once the works have been completed. Existing 
re-housing commitments to residents are set out in the Council’s Core Strategy 
(to be replaced by a new Local Plan in the next few years) and Tenancy 
Strategy. 

 
3.5  Where council homes may be demolished and replaced with new homes owned 

and managed by the council or housing associations, the council is likely to adopt 
a Local Lettings Plan that will set out in more detail the specific approach, 
tailored to key features of the regeneration scheme, e.g., phasing of decants, 
home loss and disturbance financial arrangements; and priority for re-housing. In 
these such circumstances, tenants who are relinquishing a secure (‘lifetime’) 
tenancy will be entitled to a new secure tenancy or a housing association 
equivalent, currently an Assured Tenancy.  

 
Management Transfers – Council Tenants 
 
3.6 Management transfers are only for situations where a Council  tenant or  

members of the tenant’s household, , are at serious risk by remaining in their 
current home and need an immediate move. The council will only re-house 
households in alternative accommodation assessed as suitable for their housing 
needs. However, due to the limited number of homes available the council is not 
always able to re-house residents quickly and so we will discuss the alternative 
options available. Where there is a real and immediate threat to a tenant’s safety 
and we do not have a suitable property available we may offer ‘temporary 
accommodation’ for a fixed period while an investigation is carried out.  

 
 3.6.1 There are number of  referral routes for a management transfer, these 

include a request by the tenant, the Housing Management Team, Anti-social 
Behaviour Unit, or Housing Options Officer. The officer managing the request 
must produce a Management Transfer Report to support the request to be 
approved by the Neighbourhood Manager or external housing management 
contractor equivalent.  

 
 3.6.2 Tenants who have been approved for a management transfer will receive 

one reasonable offer of alternative accommodation. If the tenant rejects the offer 

Page 35



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

24 

the Council will remove their name from the Housing Register and terminate their 
temporary accommodation from the date of this decision. 

 
 3.6.3 A reasonable offer is one that meets the tenant’s current housing need. 
 
 3.6.4 In very exceptional, urgent cases, where management requires an under-

occupier to move, the council may consider offering a home 1-bedroom larger 
than their needs However this is at the discretion of the Director for Housing 
responsible for Housing Options.  

 
 3.6.5 Tenants that have been assessed for and accepted on the Council 

Register will be placed in Band 1: Urgent Need to Move due to Reasonable 
Preference Plus Additional Priority. Such banding will need to be approved by the 
Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options.  

 
 3.6.6 The Council aims to make one direct offer of secure accommodation 

within 3 months of being accepted as a management transfer. However this is 
dependent on a suitable property available in the ‘property pool’ being matched 
against the tenant’s housing need. 

 
 3.6.7 The relevant manager will review the  Management Transfer status of all 

tenants that have been accepted on the Council Register  on a quarterly basis.. 
The review is intended to ensure the most up to date information about individual  
tenants’ housing circumstances is taken into account. . Tenants who fail to 
respond to either the review or reminder letter within 20 working days will have 
their application cancelled and will be required to re-apply. 

  
3.7 Council tenants will be able to access affordable housing elsewhere in London 

through the Housing Moves Scheme (previously known as the Pan London 
Mobility Scheme) administered by the Greater London Authority. More 
information on this scheme is set out in section 4.23 of this document.  

 
Housing Association Tenants  

 
3.8  Housing association (also known as private registered provider) tenants will be 

assessed in the same way as other applicants applying for housing advice and 
assistance under this scheme.  

 
Tenancy Succession  
  
3.9  The law on council tenancy succession is different  for secure tenants (and 

household members) where a tenancy was created before 1 April 2012 and 
those created after this date.. The statutory right only applies to the first time that 
a succession occurs, 

 

Page 36



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

25 

3.10  Where a tenancy was created before 1 April 2012, family members have a 
right  to succeed to the tenancy. This may be the tenant’s spouse or registered 
civil partner or could be a co-habiting partner or another family member(s). 
Family members seeking to succeed the tenancy will need to have lived at the 
property for at least twelve months before the succession is sought. Where a 
joint tenant dies, the other joint tenant becomes the sole tenant.  

 
3.11  Where a tenancy was created on or after 1 April 2012, only a spouse, civil 

partner or a person who lives with the tenant as if they were a spouse or civil 
partner will have a statutory right to succession. Where there is no statutory right 
to succession the council will use its discretion to allow a new secure ‘lifetime’ 
tenancy to be granted in the following circumstances: 

 

• The person applying for succession has lived continuously in the property as 
their principal home for twelve months before the death of the tenant and  

 

• They are the spouse, civil partner, a close relative of the tenant, or someone who 
had to live with the tenant in order to provide them with care, without which the 
tenant could not have maintained their tenancy and  

 

• They would qualify for the property they have applied to succeed to under the 
council’s allocations policy (i.e., this Housing Allocation Scheme) including being 
both an eligible and qualifying person(s).  

 
3.12  This process will be triggered by a Housing Register Application which will be 

considered in the first instance by Housing Management Officers from the Area 
Housing Office responsible for the tenancy. They may seek advice from Housing 
Options Officers on the application of the policies set out in this Housing 
Allocation Scheme.  

 
3.13  Where a property is not suitable for the person applying to succeed, for example 

because it is too large, the council will assist them to find alternative 
accommodation if they qualify for help under this Housing Allocation Scheme, 
which could include an offer of accommodation in the private rented sector.  

 
3.14  Where a new tenancy is granted as a result of a discretionary succession, the 

tenancy will be treated as a new tenancy under the Council’s Tenancy Strategy. 
This means that in most cases a new secure ‘lifetime’ tenancy, will be granted. 
Exceptions to this, i.e., where the Council may grant a flexible (fixed term 
tenancy), will be set out in its Tenancy Strategy.  Failure to accept a suitable 
property offered or made available under this Housing Allocation Scheme will 
result in proceedings for possession of the home currently occupied. Each 
situation will considered on its merits and tenancies will be granted at the 
discretion of the Council.  

 

Page 37



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

26 

3.15  Tenancy succession rules for housing association tenants (also called Private 
Registered Providers) are governed by different legislation. Current and future 
housing association tenants should check with individual landlords what the rules 
are for succession for their respective tenancies. 

 
Service Tenancies  
 
3.16  Employees of the Council who have a service tenancy associated with their 

employment may be re-housed by the council in pursuance of a contractual 
agreement that may be in place. This may be achieved outside of assisted 
choice through a direct nomination.   

 
Sustaining a Tenancy  
 
3.17 The Council intends to scrutinise more closely the ability of applicants to sustain 

the tenancy that is being sought for two reasons. Firstly, there needs to be some 
certainty that the applicant is able to take on the responsibilities associated with a 
new tenancy and that there is no history of anti-social and/or criminal behaviour 
associated with a previous tenancy. Secondly, the Council also needs to be 
mindful of the Government’s welfare reforms , specifically in respect to the 
implementation of the Universal Credit  which will ‘cap’ the amount of benefits a 
single household can receive, where no one applicant is in work. This is likely to 
be particularly relevant to households in large family accommodation (three 
bedrooms or more) where a significant proportion of this house type is both 
expensive to rent and in short supply. 

  
Approach to Secure and Flexible Tenancies  
 
3.18 The Council’s approach to secure and flexible tenancies is set out in its Tenancy 

Strategy. In summary, the Council (in its landlord role) intends to grant secure 
tenancies (also known as ‘lifetime tenancies’) for general needs applicants, but 
will retain the option to issue fixed term tenancies (two year and five year 
tenancies in particular circumstances, such as where the applicant has a history 
of anti-social or criminal behaviour. It may also include where the council adopts 
a Local Lettings Plan which allows applicants from certain employment groups 
from the Home Buy Register to access affordable rented housing). The large 
majority of council tenancies will start with an introductory tenancy. Similarly, the 
Council expects housing associations (also known as Private Registered 
Providers) usually housing associations to continue granting assured tenancies, 
but to increasingly grant fixed term assured shorthold tenancies in line with the 
Council’s Tenancy Strategy and changes in individual housing associations’ 
policy and practices.  

 
 
 

Page 38



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

27 

Investigation of Fraud: Offences related to information given or withheld by 
applicants  
 
3.19 The Council recognises its duty to protect the public resources it administers. 

Detailed enquiries about applications will therefore be made in order to guard 
against misrepresentation and fraud. Such enquiries will be made in all cases 
where applicants appear to have sufficient priority for an offer for re-housing, and 
in other cases as resources allow and may be made at any time either at the time 
of application or subsequently including after any grant of tenancy. Applications 
will be suspended if there is evidence of misrepresentation or fraud until 
enquiries are completed.  

 
3.20  Any applicant seeking to obtain accommodation by making a false or misleading 

statement or by withholding relevant information or by failing to inform the 
Council of any material change in circumstances is liable to have his/her 
application cancelled. Prosecution will be considered where it appears to the 
Council that a criminal offence has been committed.  

 
3.21 Proceedings for possession will be taken to recover any tenancy granted in 

consequence of a fraudulent application for housing. 
 

 
3.22 Section 171 makes it an offence for anyone seeking assistance from a housing 

authority under Part 6 of the 1996 Act to:  
 

• Knowingly or recklessly give false information, or  

• Knowingly withhold information which the housing authority has 
reasonably required the applicant to give 

 
3.23 It is for individual housing authorities to determine when these provisions apply 

and when to institute criminal proceedings. However, the circumstances in which 
an offence is committed could include:  
 

• Any false information given on an application form for social housing  

• Any false information given in response to subsequent review letters 

• Any false information given or submitted by applicants during the 
proceedings of a review 
 

3.24 Ground 5 in Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended by s 146 of the 
1996 Act) enables a housing authority to seek possession of a tenancy granted 
as a result of a false statement by the tenants or a person acting as the tenant’s 
instigation.  

 
3.25 Any tenancy fraud that may occur after the grant of a tenancy (e.g., tenancy 

passed on to a third party such as subletting of a tenancy) will be approached in 

Page 39



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

28 

a similar fashion. It is a criminal offence to sublet social housing and the 
Council will prosecute offenders.  

 
3.26 In both instances - at application stage and tenancy stage – the Council will 

support and work with all Registered Providers to reduce and eliminate tenancy 
fraud.   

 
Community Contribution and Tenancy Renewals  
 
3.27 Where an applicant for housing has been made an allocation of housing from 

Band 2 of the Housing Allocation Scheme, based on a Community Contribution 
award and the basis for that award ceases to apply during the term of the 
tenancy, the Council may seek to provide opportunities for the tenant to make a 
community contribution in an alternative way. Non-performance against an award 
of a community contribution may be one factor taken into account in the 
consideration of the renewal of a flexible tenancy.  

 
Accessing Affordable Market Housing   
 
3.28 The Council will continue to promote affordable home ownership and private 

rented options to those who are able to afford it. Where the applicant’s 
(applicants’) household income is over the level which the Council considers 
eligible for registration on the Home Buy Register, the Council will consider such 
households for affordable home ownership or direct them to private rented 
housing options. More information on income and savings thresholds is set out in 
section 6.7 – 6.9 of this Housing Allocation Scheme. 

 
 
4.  HOW THE COUNCIL ALLOCATES PROPERTIES 
 
The Property Pool and Assisted Choice  

 
4.1  Hammersmith & Fulham Council will operate a ‘property pool’ and assisted 

choice lettings system. In essence, this means that the council will maintain a list 
of properties that are available to let to housing applicants who fall into one of the 
housing bands described in section 2.12 and detailed with examples in Annex 3. 
Successful applicants will need to annually update their registration. The 
Property Pool will comprise properties available from the council (a registered 
provider); housing associations (private registered providers); landlords from the 
private rented sector; and other agencies.  In allocating the homes that the 
Council has access to, it will take account of the applicant’s preferences; the 
suitability of accommodation available; and, the supply of accommodation 
available.  

 
4.2 Properties available from the property pool will be matched to applicants’ 

preferences and, taking into account the suitability of the accommodation against 

Page 40



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

29 

applicants’ needs, offers will be made by Housing Options Officers, based on the 
housing supply available.  The Council will seek to make a maximum of two 
offers to applicants, with discretion to make a third offer. If an applicant turns 
down offers made by the Council, they will be demoted a band for twelve months. 
Where applicants are in Band 4 and turns down a second offer, they will be 
removed from the Housing Register altogether and not be able to re-apply for a 
year. Homeless applicants will normally receive one suitable offer. In the event 
that homeless applicants turn down an offer made by the Council, they will be 
removed from the register..   

 
How will it work in practice?  
 
4.3 In sequence, the key characteristics of this service will be as follows:  
 

1. Applicants will discuss with the Housing Options Officer eligibility and 
qualification criteria to enter the Council’s Housing Register. This will include a 
discussion on all housing options, including obtaining accommodation outside the 
housing registration route (e.g., private rented sector, low cost home ownership, 
etc)  

 
2. If registered, applicants will be allocated a Band ranging from 1 (the highest 

priority) to 4 (the lowest priority). It will be explained at this stage that allocation to 
Band 4 status is highly unlikely to lead to the allocation of an affordable home for 
rent let by a Registered Provider (i.e. principally the Council in its landlord role 
and housing association landlords). In the case of a homeless applicant who 
successfully registers, the Council may seek to discharge its homelessness duty 
into the private rented sector.  

 
3. Over time, Housing Options Officers will assess available homes from the 

‘property pool’ as they become available, match them with applicants’ 
accommodation needs and invite them to consider offers as and when they arise. 
Applicants’ preference will be taken into account wherever possible. The supply, 
tenure and type of available accommodation will vary according to the area’s 
housing market. Clearly, where there is a more available housing in a preferred 
area of the borough, such housing choices are more likely to be met. Conversely, 
where there is  available accommodation housing in a preferred area, such 
accommodation is less likely to be available.  

 
4. The urgency with which offers are made to housing applicants will depend on the 

supply of available accommodation in the property pool and their Band status, 
with Band 1 having the greatest urgency. The Council will expect applicants in 
urgent housing need to take up reasonable housing offers quickly.  In the event 
that housing offers to Band 1 applicants have been exhausted, housing offers will 
be made to Band 2, and then Band 3. The approach will vary where Local 
Lettings Plans are in place (See Sections 2.43 – 2.50).  

 

Page 41



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

30 

5. The property pool will comprise homes from the Council in its Registered 
Provider landlord role; Private Registered Providers (principally housing 
associations); and the private rented sector. This will include accommodation for 
Supported Housing purposes and the elderly. Some homes in the property pool 
will be located outside the borough due to the shortage of affordable 
accommodation, particularly large family accommodation, in Hammersmith & 
Fulham. 

 
6. Where applicants who are not owed a homeless duty are made a second final 

offer (with the Council reserving the right to make a third offer if special 
circumstances apply) which will meet the applicant’s need and that offer is turned 
down, then that applicant will be demoted a band for twelve months. Where the 
Council owes a homelessness duty and a suitable offer has been turned down, 
then the Council will have met its duty towards that applicant. In either case, the 
offer may be in the private rented sector.   

 
7. On making an offer to a homeless applicant, the Council will have met its 

homelessness duty.  At this point, the applicant will be removed from the register 
altogether. In respect of other housing applicants (e.g., transfer cases), where a 
second offer has been turned down, the applicant will be moved down a band for 
twelve months. If such a (non-homeless) applicant were in Band 4, they would be 
removed from the Housing Register altogether and not be able to re-register for 
another year.  

  
4.4  Priority for accommodation will be determined by housing band, with those 

applicants in Band 1 having a greater priority than those in bands 2-4, and those 
in band 2 having a greater priority than those in bands 3-4, and so on. Within 
bands, priority will be determined by date order when placed in the appropriate  
band. Date order means that date that an applicant was placed in the housing 
band.  

 
4.5  In considering priority for re-housing between applicants with a similar priority 

under the banding scheme, the Council will also take account of the immediacy 
of need of each applicant. This means, for example, that where two applicants in 
the same band are interested in the same property, preference may be given 
where one of the applicants is facing a more immediate loss of their existing 
home than the other.  

 
4.6  To avoid the loss of properties available to the Council, properties in the private 

rented sector will normally be made available on a ‘first come, first served’ basis 
to applicants across bands 1-4. Where more than one applicant is being 
considered for a private sector property, priority will be determined by band and 
date in band.  

 
4.7  Applicants will be asked to choose a property or properties to view from a 

selection of those that are available and meet their needs, and will be asked to 

Page 42



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

31 

accept one of these as their offer of re-housing. Officers will have regard to 
preferences expressed by the applicant, but it may not be possible to meet all of 
them when making an offer. If no suitable properties are available, the applicant’s 
case will remain open until a property becomes available and their Housing 
Options Officer will be proactive in working with them to secure a suitable offer of 
accommodation.   

 
Exceptions to Assisted Choice  

 
4.8  Available properties which are adapted or which are suitable for adaptation and 

Extra Care and Sheltered Housing or accommodation which is otherwise 
potentially suitable for applicants with a substantial disability or other special or 
support needs may be allocated outside strict banding and date order priority. 
Specifically on Sheltered Housing, the Council intends to maximise its use, 
ensuring that increased use of such housing is made for applicants from the 
need groups identified above. This is likely to require joint assessments of need 
by the Council's Adult Social Care and Housing Options teams. Where 
nominations are being considered for applicants, the Council will first review what 
level of support applicants will need to live independently, before granting the 
tenancy.  

 
4.9  An allocation may also be made outside banding priority in the case of a Council 

tenant who is willing to transfer from a property which he/she does not require, 
i.e., under-occupiers, and which is particularly suitable for an applicant with 
special or support needs.  

 
4.10  Applicants who have a special need for adapted property or other particular type 

of accommodation which is in very short supply may be invited to consider a 
suitable property which becomes available outside of the areas preferred by the 
applicants concerned.  

 
4.11  The Council reserves the right to restrict the operation of the property pool to 

certain groups of applicants or to make direct offers of accommodation to 
households waiting for re-housing in order to fulfil its housing management and 
financial duties and responsibilities, including achieving a balance of lettings as 
set out in the Council’s Annual Lettings Plan and delivering value for money.  

 
4.12  Exceptions to Assisted Choice will include Local Lettings Plans allocation 

arrangements as described in Section 2.43 – 2.50 of this Scheme.  
 

4.13  Decisions to allocate properties outside of the property pool and assisted choice 
will be authorised by the Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options, or 
delegated officer.  

 
4.14 The Council may consider reciprocal lettings arrangements with other local 

housing authorities and private registered providers (principally housing 

Page 43



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

32 

associations) in order to maximise the use of affordable housing accommodation 
both locally and in other areas. This may include a ‘chain letting’ approach where 
a number of lettings are mutually dependent to deliver individual applicants’ 
preferences. The Director of Housing Options, Skills and Economic Development 
shall have discretion to make any necessary decision to achieve any such 
reciprocal arrangement.   

 
4.15 This flexible approach will help facilitate greater choice for applicants who wish to 

move in their immediate locality, remaining close to family and friend networks. 
The Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options or delegated officer, will 
have the authority to allocate accommodation through either the Assisted Choice 
process or through a direct nomination to facilitate a successful chain letting.    

 
Types of Property  

 
4.16  Some properties or blocks of properties are designated for allocation only to 

applicants sharing a common characteristic or need, for example:  
 

• Properties in sheltered housing developments for people over a specified 
age,  

• Properties in supported housing schemes offering special services,  

• Individual properties which are adapted or otherwise particularly suitable for 
applicants who use a wheelchair 

 
Selection of Properties  

 
4.17  In selecting properties from the property pool for applicants to consider, the 

Council will normally take into account the following factors:  
 

• The number of bedrooms required (see Annex 1)  

• Any essential requirement concerning the type or location of re-housing  

• The housing band into which the applicant’s case falls  
 
4.18  As far as reasonably possible, the  Council will also take into account:  
 

• An applicant’s preference as between an allocation of a Council property or a 
nomination to a housing association or an allocation to the private rented 
sector.  

• The standard, type or location of the applicant’s current accommodation  
(except where this is related to the assessment of their need)  

 
Homeswap  
 
4.19 Homeswap enables existing tenants, principally in the registered provider 

affordable rented sector (i.e., tenants of councils and housing associations) the 
opportunity to swap their home with another, often called ‘mutual exchanges’.  

Page 44



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

33 

Such schemes help tenants to be closer to new places of work and/or friends and 
family. The Council supports the Government’s ‘Homes Swap Direct’ initiative, 
bringing together the range of mutual exchange regimes that exist. The Council 
will make available facilities at its principal office to enable applicants wishing to 
review housing options using the ‘homeswap’ mechanism as well as promoting 
the initiative more widely.   The Homeswap website can be found at the following 
address:  www.homesdirect.org.uk 

 
Mutual Exchanges  

 
4.20  Secure tenants have certain rights in relation to exchanging their tenancies with 

other secure tenants and in relation to the circumstances in which a member of 
their household can succeed to their tenancy. These do not fall within the scope 
of this allocations scheme, and full details for how these schemes operate can be 
obtained from Hammersmith & Fulham Council in their landlord role or their 
Landlord in the case of Private Registered Provider (housing association) 
tenants. The Mutual Exchange website can be found at the following address: 
http://www.houseexchange.org.uk/  

 
Reciprocal Nomination Arrangements  
 
4.21 The Council may consider reciprocal nomination arrangements with other local 

housing authorities and private registered providers in exceptional 
circumstances, at the discretion of the Director of Housing responsible for 
Housing Options.  

 
Accessible Housing  
 
4.22 The Council will seek to ensure accommodation opportunities for housing 

register applicants who require accessible housing are maximised. Where 
Housing Options Officers are fully appraised of applicants’ housing needs, all 
reasonable efforts will be used to ensure that offers are made to applicants in line 
with the Banding priority using the Assisted Choice approach.  Where new or re-
let homes are wheelchair accessible, then applicants on the Housing Register 
who have been assessed as requiring wheelchair accessible accommodation will 
have priority over other need groups.   

 
Housing Moves (previously known as the Pan London Mobility Scheme)  
 
4.23 Hammersmith & Fulham currently participates in the Mayor of London’s pan-

London mobility scheme, now known as Housing Moves. The reason for this 
scheme is to help applicants who are in work or training;  or currently have more 
bedrooms than; or they need  to move in order to provide care for friends or 
relatives. Details about the eligibility criteria for the Mayor’s scheme can be found 
at www.housingmoves.org  Tenants wishing to move through this scheme should 

Page 45



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

34 

apply directly online at the above address. Council officers will be responsible for 
verifying and approving applications.     

 
Annual Lettings Plan   
 
4.24 The Council will adopt an Annual Lettings Plan for the April – March year which 

will forecast the number of affordable lettings the Council expects for the relevant 
year and estimate the proportions of lettings that will be allocated to certain need 
groups. This will include adopting quotas for specific priority groups (who meet 
the eligibility and qualifying criteria of this Scheme), such as , applicants leaving 
supported housing; young people leaving care; working households; ex armed 
services personnel; community lettings; right to move; and other need groups 
that may be identified in any given year.  

 
Average Waiting Time on the Housing Register  
 
4.25 The Council will maintain on its website a schedule of information setting out 

what the average waiting times will be for applicants on the Housing Register, 
broken down by priority band and bedroom needs.  

 
5.  PROCEDURE FOR REQUESTING INFORMATION, APPEALS AND REVIEWS  

 
5.1  All applicants have the right to request general information about their 

application; whether they are entitled to any preference for housing; whether and 
when suitable accommodation will be offered to them; and, information about 
why any application has been unsuccessful. Specifically, applicants have the 
right to:  

 

• Request general information about their prospects of success following their 
application 

 

• Request information about the decision concerning the facts of their case 
 

• Request a review of such a decision and decisions that a person is not 
eligible or qualifying, and to be informed of the review decision and the 
grounds for it  

 
5.2 An unsuccessful applicant(s) to the Housing Register will be informed in writing 

of any decision regarding their eligibility and/or qualifying status. The notification 
will give clear grounds for the decision which will be based on the relevant facts 
of the case. The applicant(s) will be informed of their right to request a review of 
the decision.    

 
5.3  Applicants who are unhappy with a decision made under this policy should in the 

first instance contact the housing officer who has dealt with their case and 
explain why they think that the decision is not reasonable. The applicant will be 

Page 46



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

35 

notified whether the decision still stands and the reasons for this usually within 48 
hours.  

 
5.4  If an applicant wishes to take the matter further, they can make a request for a 

formal review of the decision within 21 days. In these cases the applicant will be 
invited to make a written submission stating the reasons for their request for a 
review and the Council will seek any further information it requires, including 
advice from medical and other specialist advisors. Formal reviews will be 
conducted by a team leader, manager or other delegated officer within the 
Council’s Housing Service with no previous involvement in the case who will 
notify the applicant of the outcome of the review including the reasons for their 
decision within 56 days.   

 
5.5  Where an applicant wishes to appeal the suitability of an offer of accommodation 

under 5.3 of this policy, the property will be held available whilst the appeal is 
considered where this is not likely to lead to an unreasonable delay in letting the 
property.  

 
5.6  Where an applicant requests a formal review concerning the suitability of 

accommodation under sections 5.4 of this policy, the property will not normally be 
held available whilst the appeal is considered.  

 
Right of Review – Homeless Applicants  
 
5.7 A homeless applicant has the right to a S202 (of the 1996 Housing Act) review of 

the suitability of an offer of accommodation. In addition they have a s204 (of the 
2002 Act) right of appeal to the County Court. Whilst seeking a review and 
appeal, the applicant may still move into the property in question, without 
prejudicing the outcome of a review and appeal case, if either is sought. 

 
6. GENERAL RULES AND CONDITIONS   
 
Decisions 

 
6.1  All decisions taken under this policy will be by Housing Options officers  from the 

Council’s Housing Department unless otherwise specified. Housing Options 
officers are supported by Team leaders and may receive ad hoc advice from 
other officers of the Council as required. Where the applicant (and any eligible 
household members/dependents) have specific needs which have been reported 
to, or recorded by, other departments of the Council, the applicant should 
highlight any such reports to the Housing Options officer concerned.  

 
Requests for Assistance 

 
6.2  Requests for housing assistance must be made to the Housing Options Service. 

The Council aims to notify applicants of the result of the assessment of their 

Page 47



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

36 

priority under the Housing Banding System within 15 working days. However, in 
cases where a medical assessment or other special assessment is required, it 
may take longer to notify the result.  

 
Persons Eligible for Assistance  
 
6.3  Persons entitled to consideration and assistance under an application must 

generally be members of the applicant’s immediate (i.e., spouse, partner and 
children) family who normally reside with the applicant. Any other person or 
persons will only be taken into consideration in the assessment of an application 
and/or any allocation of accommodation if the Council is satisfied that it is 
reasonable for that person to reside with the applicant. Exclusions are set out in 
Section 2.14 of this Scheme which will apply in general to persons other than 
immediate applicant(s) whose circumstances are relied on to support the 
application and/or who are included in the household for which re-housing is 
sought. Children under 5 will not be disqualified from inclusion in the assessment 
on the basis of the residency criteria so long as their parents were resident in the 
borough at the time of their birth.  

 
6.4  The Council will also refuse to consider an application for assistance or 

someone’s inclusion on an application if the person concerned (i.e. other than the 
applicant) has made a separate housing application.  

 
Evidence of Identity and Housing Circumstances  

 
6.5  All applicants must provide satisfactory evidence of identity and past and current 

residences for themselves and all household members. The Council will request 
documentary evidence from each applicant and will conduct such further 
enquiries as are reasonable in the circumstances. An application will be 
cancelled if the applicant has failed to provide documentary evidence or other 
information reasonably required by the Council in order to validate the 
application.  

 
6.6  The Council will normally carry out a visit to each applicant’s residence if their 

priority is sufficient for an allocation of housing under this scheme. Visits 
conducted will include an inspection of the accommodation and facilities and are 
normally but not necessarily arranged by appointment.  

 
Income and Resources  
 
6.7  All prospective new tenants will be required to supply evidence of their financial 

income and resources. Where applicants are not able to show current entitlement 
to Universal Credit (Income Support, Housing Benefit,  or Council Tax Benefit ), 
verification of income and savings will be required prior to applicants being 
offered accommodation. Where applicants have resources considered sufficient 
to access low cost home ownership or other intermediate housing option, the 

Page 48



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

37 

applicant will normally only be offered advice or assistance, or placed in Band 4 
Advice on home ownership; sub market renting; and private sector renting 
options will also be offered including opportunities to join the Council’s Home Buy 
Register.  

 
6.8 Applicants with a gross income higher than set out below will generally not 

qualify to access the Housing Register and will be offered advice on other 
housing options including joining the Home Buy Register. Applicants above this 
income level seeking this form of accommodation are considered to have access 
to low cost home ownership.  

 

• Where an applicant(s) gross income (or combined gross income) is greater than 
£46,250 and their housing requirements is for 2 bedroom accommodation or 
less,  

• Where an applicant(s) gross income (or combined gross income) is greater than 
£46,250 p.a., and their housing requirement is for 3 bedrooms or more, they will 
qualify if their combined assets/savings are less than £4,600, representing the 
costs of accessing another housing tenure.  

 

• In any event, applicants will not qualify if their income is above the top of the 
Home Buy income range, currently £71,000. These income ranges and financial 
limits will be reviewed annually and posted on the Council’s website.  
Where applicants are not eligible to access the Housing Register, they will be 
provided with advice and assistance which is likely to include private sector 
renting and low cost home ownership opportunities. Where applicants 
successfully access the Home Buy Register, they may succeed in qualifying for 
an affordable rented opportunity under a Local Lettings Plan.   

 
6.9 When considering the allocation of accommodation, Housing Options Officers will 

review applicants’ income and expenditure in order to assess their ability to 
sustain a proposed tenancy. The implementation of the Universal Credit regime 
will cash limit eligible annual household benefits. If housing costs are considered 
to be a disproportionate amount of eligible benefits, then the Housing Options 
Officer will consider appropriate options for the household concerned. In all 
instances, the Council will generally not be minded to allocate accommodation 
that is too small for applicants’ needs (as set out in Annex 1).  

 
Allocation of Smaller Accommodation in Certain Circumstances  
 
6.10 In certain circumstances, the Council will make such an allocation where the 

applicant makes clear he/she is willing to take smaller accommodation than they 
need. The applicant may only choose accommodation which is less than one 
bedroom than they need (as set out in Annex 1). The Council will not make an 
allocation which causes statutory overcrowding at the point of letting. 

 
 

Page 49



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

38 

 
Changes of Circumstances  
 
6.11  Once placed in a priority band, applicants should notify the Council in writing of 

any material change in their circumstances that will affect their priority for 
housing , for example:  

 

• a change of address, for themselves or any other person on the application.  

• any additions to the family or any other person joining the application  

• any member of the family or any other person on the application who has left 
the accommodation.  

• any change in income and/or savings.  

• Any medical or mobility need which will affect the type of accommodation 
being offered  deemed suitable 

• Community Contribution status (See Annex 2 for more detail)  
 
6.12  Applications may be temporarily suspended while the Council assesses the 

information provided by the applicant and completes further enquiries that may 
be necessary. The Council will carry out an assessment of each applicant’s 
entitlement to and priority for re-housing on the basis of information which has 
been provided by the applicant or otherwise received in connection with the 
applicant. Where the Council believes that information about the applicant’s 
personal circumstances have been deliberately withheld or misleadingly 
presented, then the Council will reserve the right to withdraw any offer of 
accommodation or not renew a tenancy where one has been granted.  

 
Members of the Council, Staff Members and their Relations  

 
6.13  In order to ensure that the Council is seen to be treating all applicants fairly, any 

application for housing or re-housing from members of the Council, employees of 
the Council or associated persons must be disclosed. Where any officer of the 
Council is involved, directly or indirectly, in assessing or verifying or  involved or 
administering an individual applicant’s cases, and they discover they have a 
family or friendship connection with such an applicant, they should declare an 
interest to their line manager immediately. Failure to declare such a connection 
will be considered a disciplinary matter. Such  applications will be assessed in 
the normal way but any allocation of housing will require specific approval by the 
Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options.  

 
Equal Opportunities and Monitoring  
 
6.14  The Council is committed to the principle of equal opportunities in the delivery of 

all its services. If an applicant does not understand any part of the housing 
register application process due to speaking/reading a different language; 
difficulty with speaking/reading; visual impairment; hearing difficulties or other 

Page 50



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

39 

disability, applicants should ask  for additional assistance (e.g., translation and 
interpretation services) to help them with their application.  

6.15  Confidential interview facilities are provided at all housing offices. There is full 
access to the Housing Options Office for people who use a wheelchair. Home 
interview services are available for applicants who are elderly or who experience 
mobility difficulties.  

 
6.16  All applicants for housing or re-housing will be asked to provide details of ethnic 

origin, sexuality, disability and other equalities information. Provision of this 
information will not be obligatory and not a requirement for acceptance of an 
application. However, such information will help monitor the number and types of 
equality groups seeking support and therefore applicants will be strongly advised 
to complete the relevant information. Equalities records will be monitored on a 
regular and systematic basis to ensure properties are being offered and allocated 
fairly. Allocation policies and any changes to them will be reviewed regularly to 
ensure they do not operate in ways that discriminate against or disadvantage any 
particular group.  

 
6.17 The Council will seek to ensure that its allocation policies are being operated in a 

manner that is fair to all sections of the community regardless of nationality, 
ethnic origin, marital status, age, gender, sexual orientation or disability. The 
information provided will be kept confidential and treated with respect. The 
council believes it is important to understand the different communities who apply 
for housing and it is only by asking these questions can the Council check that it 
is operating a fair system.  

   
Confidentiality  

 
6.18  The Council will take disciplinary action against any employee who makes 

use of any information obtained in the course of their employment for 
personal gain or benefit, or who passes it to others who might use it in 
such a way. A report to the police will be made if it appears that a criminal 
offence has been committed.  

 
6.19  The disclosure of information about any housing application to a third party is 

prohibited except on a “need to know” basis in the following circumstances:  
 

• to plan and provide assistance jointly with health and social services agencies 
in appropriate cases.  

• for the purpose of fraud detection, the prevention of crime, and the promotion 
of community safety.  

• to enable efficient administration of offers of re-housing, lettings, housing 
association nominations, and rent and benefit accountancy etc.  

• where disclosure is a legal requirement.  

 

 

Page 51



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

40 

 

Data Protection – Privacy Notice  
 
6.20 Hammersmith and Fulham’s Housing Department is committed to complying with 

the 8 principles of the Data Protection Act 1998, as well as people’s rights to 
confidentiality and respect for privacy. The information you supply to the council 
when submitting or updating information to support an application to accesses 
the council’s housing register for accommodation, this information will be shared 
with other H&F departments or third parties/service delivery partners who deliver 
these services.  

 
6.21 Under the Data Protection Act 1998, individuals have a right to access and 

receive a permanent copy of all their personal information which H&F holds. 
Details of how to submit a request are published on H&F’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Data_Protection_and_
Freedom_of_Information/Data_Protection_Act/39929_Data_Protection_Act.asp#
0       Requests for access to data must be made in writing to the Director 
Housing  responsible for Housing Options. Information will be provided within 40 
working days of the application. No fee is charged for this service.  
 

Developing and testing business applications 
 
6.23 The Housing Department and their service delivery partners (see above) may 

use the information you give us to maintain and improve the services which we 
deliver, this includes developing and upgrading the systems which we use to 
process your information.   

 
Corporate business intelligence 
 
6.24 The Housing Department may share the information you give us with other 

council services and service delivery partners (see above)  for research and 
analysis purposes, to help us design the services we provide and to identify and 
contact residents who may benefit from them. 

 
Prevention and detection of fraud 
 
6.25 The Housing Department may share and compare your information with other 

council services and other organisations to make sure the information is 
accurate, to protect public funds, recover debt and/or prevent or detect fraud. 
These other organisations include government departments, other local 
authorities and private sector organisations such as banks or organisations that 
lend money. 

 
Legal requirements 
 

Page 52



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

41 

6.26 The Housing Department will use all information held by us for the purposes of 
law enforcement, regulation and licensing, criminal prosecutions and court 
proceedings. 

 
Role of the Priority Housing Panel  
 
6.27 It is not possible for the boundary of this Housing Allocation Scheme to 

adequately reflect every possible combination of housing need. The purpose of 
the Priority Housing Panel is to assess and make recommendations in relation to 
exceptional cases which do not fit easily within the boundary of the Scheme. 
Meetings of this Panel (which shall comprise not fewer than 3 designated 
officers) may meet on an ad hoc basis and seek additional advice where 
necessary.  

 

Page 53



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

42 

Annex 1 - Sizes of Homes  
 
The Council’s approach to sizes of homes that are allocated to applicants is  drawn from 
current Department for Work and Pensions (DWP)  rules on Housing Benefit. The rules 
allow one bedroom for:  
 

• Every adult couple (married or unmarried)  

• Any adult aged 16 years or over 

• Any two children of the same sex aged under 16 years 

• Any two children aged under 10 years 

• Any other child (other than a foster child or child whose main home is elsewhere) 

• Children who cannot share because of a disability or medical condition 

• A Carer (or team of carers) providing overnight care 
 
 One spare bedroom is allowed for: 

• an approved foster carer who is between placements, but only for up to 52 weeks 
from the end of the last placement 

• a newly approved foster carer for up to 52 weeks from the date of approval if no 
child is placed with them during that time. 
 

Source: DWP Housing Benefit Claimant Factsheet (Removal of Spare Room Subsidy) 
 
In the case of non-dependent adults 18 or over  who are not carers; vulnerable; or the 
subject of other exceptional circumstances; they will not be considered  as members of 
the household for the purpose of this Housing Allocation Scheme. Carers will only be 
considered as a household member where overnight care is essential.  
 
The annex table sets out the size of a property a household successfully applying for 
home can expect The Council will not offer a home that is larger or smaller than the 
identified need (subject to Section 6.10).  In detail:  
 

• The number of bedrooms you need depends upon the size of your family 

• The chart shows the size of home that we consider you need  

• A single parent is counted as a couple and an unborn baby after the second 
trimester is counted as a child  

• Single people without children will usually be offered a studio/bedsit 

• Two children of the opposite sex under ten will be expected to share a bedroom 

• Council or Private Registered Provider (PRP) tenants ‘trading down’ from 
properties with three or more bedrooms may choose a property with one 
bedroom more than they need 

• Some housing associations may have policies that vary from the bedroom 
requirements set out below 

• In exceptional circumstances, applicants with a disabled child who requires their 
own bedroom  will be considered on a case by case basis.  

 

Page 54



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

43 

 
 

Size 
Category 

Size of Household – Common Examples  Size of 
Property 

1 Single Person  Studio / Bedsit  

2 A couple or single parent without children  
 

1 Bedroom  

3 Two adults of the same generation*  2 Bedrooms  

4 A couple or single parent expecting a child or with a child 
(including a non-dependent  adult son or daughter)  

1 / 2 
Bedrooms 

5 A couple or single parent with two children of the same sex  
 

2 Bedrooms 

7 A couple or single parent with two children of opposite sex and 
both under ten 
 

2 Bedrooms 

8 A couple or single parent with two children of opposite sex one of 
whom is over ten  
 

3 Bedrooms 

9 A couple or single parent with three children  
 

3 Bedrooms 

10 A couple or single parent with four children (all of the same sex or 
two of each sex)  
 

3 Bedrooms 

11 A couple or single parent with two children of the opposite sex 
under ten and one dependent relative  

3 Bedrooms 

12 A couple or single parent with four children (three of one sex and 
one of the opposite sex)  

3 / 4 
Bedrooms 

13 A couple or single parent with more than four children  
 

4 Bedrooms 
(or more)  

14 A couple or single parent with three children and one dependent 
relative 
 

4 Bedrooms 

 
* Less than 20 years apart not applying to parents/children 
 

 
Note: An applicant or applicants may be considered to be one person; a couple who are 
married or in a civil partnership; or two persons in a relationship. Both applicants and 
household members must be able to meet the residence criteria set out in Section 2.21 
of this document. 

Page 55



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

44 

Annex 2 – COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION: HOW PRIORITY IS AWARDED  

Community Contribution  

The Council believes that people who make a community contribution should have 
greater priority for accommodation allocated by the Council than those who do not.  

The Community Contribution priority scheme is a Hammersmith & Fulham Council 
policy which gives a qualifying  applicant increased priority for housing. Increased 
priority will be awarded to applicants qualifying under the community contribution criteria 
who also have reasonable preference and they will be placed in Band 2 by virtue of this 
award.  

Community Contribution Awards – How they work in practice  

Applicants must meet at least one of the eligibility and qualifying  criteria in order to be 
considered for a community contribution award. They will also need to demonstrate they 
meet the local residency qualification. Applicants should have:   
 
1. No on-going culpable involvement in anti-social behaviour or criminal activities 
2. No breaches of tenancy within the last 3 years  
3. No outstanding lawfully recoverable housing-related debt over £100 
4. An outstanding unspent conviction  

Applicants can access increased priority for housing in eight ways:  

1.  Working Households  

This policy aims to support the economic growth of Hammersmith & Fulham. We will 
offer increased priority to applicants who are working but are on a low income and will 
therefore find difficulty in accessing outright home ownership or low cost home 
ownership.  

Definition of a Working Household  

Households where at least one adult household member is in employment. The criteria 
that applies is defined by Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) guidance on 
eligibility for Working Tax Credit. The number of hours per week required for 
employment varies according to household size and status. Current criteria can be 
found at the following webpage: https://www.gov.uk/working-tax-credit/eligibility  

For the purposes of this Allocation Scheme, employment is described as having a 
permanent contract, working as a temporary member of staff or being self-employed. 
Applicants will only qualify if the worker has been employed for 9 out of the last 12 
months. Verification will be sought at point of application as well as point of offer of 
tenancy under the same terms. Applicants must provide payslips, P60, bank statements 
or an original (i.e., not photocopied) verifying letter on headed paper in order to qualify.  

 

Page 56



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

45 

2.  Volunteering  

Volunteers must have been volunteering for a continuous period of at least 6 months up 
to the point of application for community contribution status and at point of tenancy 
offer. Volunteering must be for a not-for profit organisation that is recognised by the 
Council, or a charity that is registered with the Charity Commission or is funded by the 
Council or another local authority. Tenants and Residents Associations which are 
constituted are classified as not-for-profit organisation. They must be registered with 
Hammersmith & Fulham Council or a Private Registered Provider to qualify. 
Volunteering must be for a minimum of 20 hours per month.  

Evidence Required for voluntary work 

A letter on the organisation’s headed paper from the manager responsible for 
volunteers confirming the applicant’s involvement in a minimum of 20 hours per month 
of voluntary work for at least 6 months. This person must not be related to the applicant 
in any way.  
 
3. Training or Education  
 
We want to encourage people to move closer to gaining paid employment by gaining 
employability skills and becoming job ready. This may be achieved by attending higher 
or further education or by accessing a longer vocational course of study or engaging in 
a programme of work-related training courses. In all cases the course of study must 
lead to achieving accredited qualifications and / or certification by a registered awarding 
body.  
 
Study or training may be undertaken at a range of recognised institutions and 
organisations such as: Further Education College; registered Private Training Provider; 
registered Voluntary Sector Organisation or University. 
 
To be eligible for the vocational training award a person must initially access a 
recognised Information, Advice and Guidance (IAG) service for young people up to age 
19 years to develop an agreed employment action plan and to be signposted to relevant 
training providers. Candidates must be working towards gaining employment in a 
vocational occupation.  
 
A person must have been studying or training against the eligible criteria and definition 
outlined, for a continuous period of at least 6 months up to the point of application and 
the same at point of offer. Applicants eligible for out-of-work related benefits must also 
be registered with Job Centre Plus and accessing mainstream job brokerage provision, 
thus actively seeking work (this may not apply to full time students dependent on the 
hours they are studying). Training must be in addition to, or supplementary to any 
mandatory training required and may be undertaken in conjunction with volunteering to 
gain further knowledge and experience. Training must be a minimum of 10 hours a 
month.  
 

Page 57



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

46 

Some people undertaking training are not actively seeking work. Where the Department 
for Work and Pensions can confirm that the applicant is not required to actively seek 
work because of their circumstances, for example they have caring responsibilities, their 
training can be recognised in this policy.  
 
 
Evidence required for Training element  
 
Further/higher education candidates must supply evidence of:  
 

• letter from college or university confirming participation in course of study for 
period of 6 months  

 
For vocational training award the following evidence must be provided:  
 

• an agreed employment action plan developed through a recognised IAG service 
plus verification of steps taken towards achievement of action plan targets  

• certificate or letter from a registered awarding body for the course or by a 
recognised training provider as evidence of gaining a recognised vocational 
qualification or successfully completing accredited work-related training (over a 
continuous period of at least 6 months)  

 
4.  Ex Armed Service Personnel  

Applicants who have served in the British Armed Forces and lived in Hammersmith & 
Fulham for at least 6 months immediately prior to enlisting, will qualify for a community 
contribution award automatically, with the exception of those who have been 
dishonourably discharged. This includes people who have served in the Royal Navy, 
Royal Air Force and British Army.  

Service with the armed forces will be confirmed with the Royal British Legion.  

The Council intends to work with one or more housing organisations with experience of 
ex-service personnel issues in order to develop criteria and maximise housing options 
opportunities for ex service personnel.  
 
5.  Registered Foster Carers, Adopters and Special Guardians 
 
The Council recognises the contribution that Hammersmith & Fulham foster carers,  
adopters and Special Guardians make towards ensuring that children in care receive a 
settled environment to grow up in. To qualify for a community contribution award under 
this policy, applicants will require written confirmation a  from the Council’s Children’s 
Service confirming that they have been approved as a Hammersmith & Fulham foster 
carer and/or adopter and/or accepted as a Special Guardian (i.e., the child concerned is 
the subject of a Special Guardianship Order) and that they are in a position to take one 
or more placements. Any re-housing requirements will be dealt with on a case by case 
basis.  

Page 58



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

47 

 
6. Carers 
 
The applicant will usually need to be receiving Carer's Allowance to meet this criteria. 
Applicants who undertake formal care of dependents who are in receipt of Disability 
Living Allowance (DLA)  higher rate or care element DLA may qualify for the community 
contribution award under this policy. 
 
Note: Welfare reforms are changing the way disabled people are considered for benefit 
entitlement and this section (i.e., impact of such changes on carers) will need to be 
reviewed to reflect any changes that come into force.  
 
7.  People with disabilities and older residents  
 
Whilst many older people and those with disabilities work or volunteer (or where the 
applicant is receiving carer’s allowance as described above), there may be 
circumstances in which frailty or a disability prevents this, or means that the full eligibility 
criteria set out in this annex. A Senior Officer will need to approve such as award.  

 
8. Young People  
 
Generally young people (applicants aged 25 and under) will be required to meet the full 
community contribution criteria set out in this annex. However, a Senior Officer will have 
discretion with regard to the length of time a young person has been in employment. In 
addition where a young person is able to participate in volunteering and is not in 
employment or training the number of hours per month required is 20 hours.  
 

The Council will have discretion to consider applicants who are referred to it by other 
sections of the Council.   
 
 
 

Page 59



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

48 

 
 

ANNEX 3 – HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM HOUSING BANDS  

Band 1  

Urgent Need to Move due to Reasonable Preference PLUS additional priority  

Summary Guide of Criteria  

Emergency medical or 
disability  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(d)  

• Where an applicant’s condition is expected to be terminal 
within a period of twelve months and re-housing is required to 
provide a basis for the provision of suitable care.  
• The condition is life threatening and the applicant’s existing 
accommodation is a major contributory factor.  
• The applicant’s health is so severely affected by the 
accommodation that it is likely to become life threatening. 
• The applicant (or household member) is unable to access their 
accommodation and requires re-housing into accommodation 
suitable for their use.  
• The applicant’s accommodation is directly contributing to the 
deterioration of the applicant’s health such as severe chest 
condition requiring intermittent hospitalisation as a result of 
chronic dampness in the accommodation and the condition of 
the property cannot be resolved within a reasonable period of 
time – usually 6 months.  
• Where overcrowding in the property leaves the applicant at 
risk of life threatening infection.  

Exceptional Circumstances 
Welfare and Hardship 
Criteria  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(e)  

• Emergency need to move determined by the Council and 
authorised by the Director of Housing responsible for Housing 
Options.  
 

Exceptional need to move  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(e)  

• Applicants who need to move due to domestic abuse, extreme 
violence or extreme harassment.  
• Extreme violence or harassment will be verified by the Police 
and/or other agencies as necessary. This may include where a 
move is necessary to protect a witness to criminal acts.  
• Agreed in exceptional circumstances due to significant 
problems associated with the tenant’s occupation of a council 
dwelling  and there is a high risk to the tenant or their family’s 
safety if they remain in the dwelling/area. For council housing 
tenants, transfers will be to properties of the same size, type or 
smaller if they are under-occupying where required, but 
locations or areas are likely to change.  

Disability need to move on 
hardship grounds 
Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(d)  

• This is any applicant who needs to move to suitable adapted 
accommodation because of a serious injury, medical condition 
or disability which he or she, or a member of their household, 
has sustained as a result of service in the Armed Forces  

Page 60



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

49 

Release of adapted 
property  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(e)  

• Where a social housing tenant is willing to transfer to a 
suitable non adapted property and is releasing an adapted 
home or designated older persons property.  
 

Statutory Overcrowded  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(c)  

• Council tenants who are statutorily overcrowded and who 
require at least two additional bedrooms.  
 

Acute Overcrowding  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(c)  

• Where a household is 3 bedrooms short of the bedroom 

standard set out in ‘Size of Household – Common Examples’ 
set out in Annex 1. 

Private sector properties 
unsanitary or unfit.  

Those living in unsanitary 
conditions where the 
conditions pose an ongoing 
and serious threat to health;  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(c)  

• Private sector tenants and residents of dwellings that the 
Council’s Private Sector Housing Team has determined that the 
property poses a category 1 hazard under the Health and Safety 
fitness rating and the Council are satisfied that the problem 
cannot be resolved by the landlord within 6 months and as a 
result continuing to occupy the accommodation will pose a 
considerable risk to the applicant’s health, where the applicant 
has an existing health condition that is exacerbated by these 
conditions. This includes a property that has severe damp, 
major structural defects including subsidence, flooding, collapse 
of roof, or have living conditions which are a statutory nuisance, 
and there is no prospect of the problems being remedied within 
a 6 month time period.  
• A private sector property either owned or rented where a 
statutory notice has been issued by the environmental health 
department that an unfit property is to be demolished under the 
Housing Act 2004.  

Under-occupation  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(e)  

 Where a Council tenant will release a home with two or more 
bedrooms by moving to a property which is either a 1 bedroom 
or studio/bedsit. 
Where a Private Registered Provider (normally a housing 
association) tenant who will release a home with two or more 
bedrooms are eligible if their landlord agrees that the vacated 
property can be used for a nomination by the Council  

Major works or demolition  

Reasonable preference 
category S.167(2)(c)  

• Where a council tenant has to move either temporarily or 
permanently whilst major works are undertaken or where their 
home is due to be demolished 
 
 

Foster carers referred by 
the Council’s Children’s 
Service  
Reasonable preference 
category  
167(2) (d) or (e)  

• Foster carers or adopters approved by the Council whose 
housing prevents them from being able to start, or continue, to 
provide foster or adoptive care.  
 
 

Page 61



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

50 

 

Band 2 

Need to Move Reasonable Preference AND a Community Contribution as 

identified in Annex 2 (i.e., eligible and qualifying applicants who are working; 

volunteers; in training or education; ex-armed service personnel; registered 

foster carers and adopters; carers; people with disabilities and older residents; 

and certain categories of young people. 

Band 3 

Need to Move Reasonable Preference (as set out in Band 2) but NO Community 

Contribution as identified in Annex 2 (See above)  

 

Summary Guide of Criteria 

Homeless Households 
owed a full homeless duty 
under section 193(2) or 
195(2).  
Reasonable Preference 
categories s167(2) (b)  

 
• People who are owed a duty under section 193 (2) 0r 195 
(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65 (2) or 68(2) of the 
Housing Act 1985) - This means households who are 
homeless or threatened with homelessness, eligible and in 
priority need  

Overcrowded by the 
Bedroom standard.  

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)  

Where an applicant (but not a single applicant or a couple 
without dependants) is one or two bedrooms short of the 
bedroom standard set out in ‘Size of Household – Common 
Examples’ set out in Annex 1.  

Applicants living in 
unsatisfactory housing 
lacking basic facilities.  

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)  

Applicants without access at all to any of the following 
facilities. No access to:  
• a bathroom or kitchen  
• an inside WC  
• hot or cold water supplies, electricity, gas or adequate 

heating  
 
Applicants who occupy a private property which is in 
disrepair or is unfit for occupation and is subject to a 
Prohibition Order and recovery of the premises is required in 
order to comply with the Order as defined by Section 33 of 
the Housing Act 2004.  
Applicants who only have access to shared facilities in 
shared accommodation will not qualify under these criteria.  

 

 

 

 

Page 62



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

51 

Medical grounds  

Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(d)  

Where an applicant’s housing is unsuitable for moderate or 
severe medical reasons or due to their disability, but who are 
not housebound or whose life is not at risk due to their 
current housing, but whose housing conditions directly 
contribute to causing serious ill-health. Such applicants (or 
applicants with a household member) may include a person 
with a learning disability. Housing Options officers will only 
consider applications where officers from the Council Adult 
Social Care Department consider the applicant is capable of 
independent living, taking account of any necessary and 
funded package of care and support.   

Hardship or welfare need 
to move for care or support  
Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2) (c) and 
(d)  

Those  in hardship or welfare who need to move to give or 
receive care that is substantial and ongoing.(or receive care 
that is acute and exceptional).   
 

Housing need due to age  
Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(d)  

Older or disabled applicants seeking Retirement or Extra 
Care or Sheltered housing (where available in each 
instance). At least one of the applicants will need to be over 
65 years old to be eligible.   

Ready to move on from 
Council accredited 
supported housing 
schemes  
Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)  

An applicant is ready to move to independent settled 
housing;  .the applicant is in need of medium to long term 
rather than short term ongoing tenancy support; and, a 
support package has been assessed and is in place.  

Move on from Care  
Reasonable Preference 
category s167(2)(c)  

A care leaver who has been agreed by the Care Leaver’s 
Panel who is ready to move to independent settled housing 
and is genuinely prepared for a move to independent living;   
possess the life skills to manage a tenancy including 
managing a rent account; and is in need of either a long term 
or medium term tenancy support; and that a support package 
has been assessed and is in place.  

Discretionary Succession  Where the Council has agreed to grant a tenancy under 
sections 3.9 – 3.15 of this policy.  

Ex Armed Service 
Personnel with urgent 
housing needs (all 
reasonable preference 
categories)   

Ex Armed Service personnel meeting the criteria set out in the 
Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed 
Forces)(England) Regulations 2012   

Existing Foster Carers and 
Adopters approved by the 
Council willing to provide 
care for an additional child  
Reasonable preference 
category  
167(2) (d) or (e)  

Where a Foster Carer or Adopter already provides a home 
for at least one foster or adoptive child offers to provide care 
for an additional foster or adoptive child.  
 

 

 

Page 63



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

52 

 
 

Band 4 

Reduced Priority : Need to Move - Reasonable Preference but with Reduced 
Priority  

Summary Guide of Criteria   

Applicants owed 
Reasonable Preference but 
who have been given 
reduced priority.  

Applicants in this band have reduced preference and are 
extremely unlikely to be offered social housing but may be 
offered assistance to find a home in the private rented 
sector.   

 

Page 64



Delivering the change we need in housing  

 Hammersmith & Fulham Housing Allocation Scheme 

53 

Reference Documents  

 
Communities & Local Government (CLG) Allocation of Accommodation: guidance for 
local housing authorities (June 2012)  
 
CLG Providing social housing for local people. Statutory guidance on social housing 
allocations for local authorities in England (December 2013)  
 
CLG Right to Move- Statutory guidance on social housing allocations for local housing 
authorities in England (March 2015) 
  
The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces)(England) 
Regulations 2012 
 
The Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move)(England) 
Regulations 2015.  
 
 

Page 65



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council 
 
 

Tenancy Strategy  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2015  

Page 66



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

2 
 

 
 
 
Tenancy Strategy Consultation  
 
The Council is seeking your views on what you think of this Tenancy Strategy .  
 
What is the Tenancy Strategy 
 
The council is required by law to produce a Tenancy Strategy. This document sets out what 
kinds of affordable housing tenancies the local authority grant; the circumstances in which 
they will grant a tenancy of a certain kind; where they grant tenancies for a fixed term; the 
lengths of the terms, and the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the 
coming to an end of an existing tenancy.  
 
To access this Draft Tenancy Strategy electronically, go to 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/housingconsultation   
 
If you:  
 

• Want a paper copy of the Draft Tenancy Strategy document 

• Have any questions about this Draft Tenancy Strategy document and would like to 
discuss them 

• Want a clearer explanation of what we are proposing 

• Want to meet someone from the Council to discuss the Draft Strategy or would like 
someone to attend a meeting 

• Want to send a response  
 
please contact Aaron Cahill, Interim Housing Strategy Manager  on 020 8753 1649 or email  
housingconsultation@lbhf.gov.uk and we will respond as soon as we can. You can also 
write to us at the office address below.  
 
The Council will collate responses from:  
 

• Consultation survey responses (written and electronically)  

• Interviews and discussions with individuals and group meetings 

• Written submissions received from individuals and organisations  

• Notes from consultation meetings  
 
If you want a paper copy of the Draft Tenancy Strategy document, call or email us using the 
contact details above.   
 
If you want to submit a paper copy of any response you want to make, please send it  to:  
 
Housing Strategy Team  
Housing Department  
First Floor, 145 King St  
London W6 9XY  
 

Page 67



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

3 
 

Submissions in response to this consultation process must be made by Wednesday 16 
September 2015.   
Housing Strategy Consultation Process January - March 2015  
 
We consulted with interested parties during early 2015 on the Housing Strategy, seeking 
views on the ‘direction of travel’ that we wanted to take. We have now adopted our Housing 
Strategy and have undertaken to consult further on the detail of individual documents. The 
other documents we are consulting on are the Housing Allocation Scheme and the Home 
Buy Allocation Scheme. People took some time and effort to respond to what we published 
and we have set out below some of what they said. The comments below relate to the 
Council’s proposed approach to the Tenancy Strategy.  
 
We asked you two questions:  

The First Survey Question was: To what extent do you agree that the council should 
return from fixed term tenancies to lifetime tenancies? 

Responses to the Survey: 42% of the respondents agreed with the proposal while 40% 
disagreed. 

 
Comments Included:  
 
“Security of tenure is important to invest in establishing a strong community. It helps local 
people to have security, towards employment, education and having strong family ties.” – 
male, council tenant, unable to work, W12 
 
“Fixed term tenancies (other than probationary tenancies) are an administrative nightmare 
as they effectively mean reassessing every tenant every few years. Much better to have 

good incentives for people to (for example) move to low cost home ownership if their 
income rises.” 

 
“What if a person's circumstances change during this time?” – female, shared ownership, 
full-time work, SW6 
 
“Tenants would have a greater stake in their area and communities more stable and settled. 
After all, owner occupiers (by and large) enjoy a more settled. I do think it should be easier 

for tenants to be able to move if necessary for work, or retirement, etc.” – female, owner 
outright, retired, W12 

 
“People need security for their home.” – female, council tenant, part-time work, W12 
 
“Helps build community and give people a sense of security.” – female, council tenant, full-

time work, W12 
 
“Again, a very nuanced issue. Under-occupation should be avoided of course. We also 
want to prevent encouraging a culture in which more occupants = larger, more valuable 
homes so larger families becomes a perceive path to a better life for those most at risk in 
society.” – male, owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 
 

Page 68



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

4 
 

“People should have an expectation that if their and the borough's circumstances do not 
change materially they will be able to retain their existing housing and policies should be 

operated to enable this, to avoid unnecessary upheaval and encourage people to invest in 
their homes, but there should be no right to remain if circumstances change.” – owner with 

a mortgage or loan, full-time work 
 
"I believe in the principle of life time tenancies but I also think there needs to be an element 
of a probationary period initially where by the council can work with new tenants to ensure 
they can manage their tenancy and respect the local community.  
Greater emphasis needs to be placed on releasing properties that are under occupied. This 
might include grants to move on to smaller properties." – male, owner outright, retired, W12 
 

“For example a 3 bedroom flat might be necessary when children are young but as  
they grow up and leave home the housing needs of a retired couple are different.” – female, 

owner with a mortgage or loan, part-time work, W12 
 
“Lifetime tenancies are not a good idea; they could lead to complacency with some tenants 
and remove the incentive to improve their housing situation in their own initiative.” – owner 
with a mortgage or loan, full-time work 
 

“Council tenancies should be for life to give security for the family to know they have a 
home for life if you are living in a council property you a usually on a low income to start 

with and very difficult to move from that bracket to next.” – female, owner with a mortgage 
or loan, full-time work, W12 

 
“I think security in housing is very important to people's quality of life; especially for 
families.” – female, private rented, full-time work, W6 
 
“Tenants should be able to feel secure in their tenancy and consequently they will feel more 

attached and look after the property and surrounding environment better. But in certain 
cases a renegotiation and downsizing might be encouraged” – female, owner outright, 

retired, W12 
 
“It is disruptive to move people just because their tenancy has ended. If they pay their rent 
and are not anti-social they should stay” – female, council tenant, full-time work, SW6 
 

“The way to rebuild communities is to give tenants life security” – female, owner outright, 
part-time work, SW6 

 
“If a purely commercial view is taken of the efficient occupation of the affordable housing 
stock and the need to move people on as soon as or if their financial circumstances 
improve it pushes against the need to foster social cohesion. If people can't call somewhere 
home it is unsettling that they might have to move their children from existing schools if they 
are asked to surrender their tenancy because they have secured stable employment and a 
good income.” – male, owner outright, full-time work, W10 
 

“Especially sensible for tenants who are unlikely to ever be able to access other forms of 
housing, i.e. disabled tenants, tenants who work in lower paid jobs, such as nurses, 

teachers etc.” – housing association tenant, part-time work, W12 
 

Page 69



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

5 
 

“Security of tenure increases the health and wellbeing of individuals and communities.” – 
female, council tenant, full-time work, W6 
 

“People occupying properties at least one bedroom bigger than their needs should be 
moved into more suitable homes. They should be given a choice of homes and not just put 
somewhere, but at the same time should not be allowed to stay in 3 bedroomed and larger 
homes. When the tenancy is signed this should be a condition of the tenancy, but as long 

as they require the size of home they should be allowed to live there. There should also be 
a condition regarding income. People who can afford to purchase or rent privately should 

lose their entitlement to social housing.“ – male, private rented, unable to work, SW6 
 
“Helps to create sustainable communities and allow people to put down roots in the 
community.” – male, housing association tenant, full-time work 
 
“Lifetime tenancies offer security which a lot of people need. However, people with a history 

of anti-social behaviour could be offered a fixed term tenancy and closely monitored.”  
 
“Everyone wants secure longer term tenancies particularly if extended family are included in 
childcare, looking after disabled and vulnerable relatives. Care in the community, means 
care in the home and you can't do it very easily if you have to worry about what happens 
when you die/ fall ill. Who actually is going to look after your disabled child or elderly 
parent.” – female, council tenant, unable to work, W12 
 
“Security for the family. You cannot put a price on that. In terms of things I own, the secure 
tenancy is the most precious by a long, long way.  For those who aren't millionaires, it is the 
most precious thing you have in London. Build more social housing so you can hand more 

out.  It's a great bargaining chip to get antisocial folk to behave. Also return rights to 
succession.” – female, owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, W12 

 
“Security of tenure is essential to allow families to plan their lives.” – Hammersmith & 
Fulham Law Centre, SW6 
 
 
 

The Second Survey Question was: To what extent do you agree that the council should 
keep fixed-term tenancies for certain categories of applicant? 

Responses to the Survey: 69% of the respondents agreed with the proposal while 19% 
disagreed. 

Comments Included:  
 
“If someone continues to prove antisocial. It’s a balance between a 'right and a 
responsibility." – male, council rented, unable to work, SW6 
 

"Again, this enables the council to create preferred classes of society, which is wrong.” – 
private rented, full-time work 

 

Page 70



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

6 
 

“If they have bad behaviour their tenancy should be reviewed more often. These people are 
being provided with a benefit and they should respect that benefit being provided to them.” 
– female, private rented, full-time work, SW6 
 
"People with a history of anti-social behaviour should always have their behaviour left under 

scrutiny.”  
 
“Giving them access to permanent residency is inviting them to return to anti-social 
behaviour.” – male, owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, W12 
 
“People with a record of anti-social behaviour, with rent arrears or similar criteria obviously 

seem to struggle with the responsibilities of life in general. While I do not condone their 
behaviour I think these people should be supported and helped rather than punished.” – 

female, private rented, full-time work, W6 
 
“I thought, though, that a tenancy could be taken away because of anti-social behaviour 
anyway.  I know it would be a long process, but life tenancies have to be conditional on 
basic respect for neighbours." – female, owner outright, part-time work, SW6 
 

“Lifetime tenancies should be for senior people only however, those who have shown that 
they have possessed a good record of behaviour may also be offered this.” – male, private 

rented, unemployed, W6 
 
“Every tenant with anti-social behaviour should always be able to be evicted from their 
homes what-ever kind of tenancy they have. It is grossly unfair for decent quiet people to be 
disturbed by others period!” – male, private rented, unable to work, SW6 
 

“I think that is simple common sense.  If you make things hopeless for people they will 
behave hopelessly.  So offer a light at the end of a tunnel.  Certainly, don't bar people just 

because they have a criminal record etc.” – male, council rented, unable to work, W14 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

7 
 

 
 
Index              
 
1.  What is the Tenancy Strategy and why have one?  
 
2.  Hammersmith & Fulham’s Tenancy Strategy Approach  
 
3. Use of Fixed Term Tenancies (also known as Flexible Tenancies)  
 
4. Affordable Rents  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

8 
 

 
 
1.  What is the Tenancy Strategy and why have one?  

 
1.1 Summary  
 
1.1 The 2011 Localism Act places a statutory duty on local authorities to produce a 

Tenancy Strategy which should set out the local authority’s approach to tenure 
reform in the social housing sector. Section 150 (1) and (2) states the following:  

 
(1) A local housing authority in England must prepare and publish a strategy (a “tenancy 

strategy”) setting out the matters to which the registered providers of social housing 
for its district are to have regard in formulating policies relating to:  
 
(a) the kinds of tenancies they grant 
(b) the circumstances in which they will grant a tenancy of a certain kind 
(c) where they grant tenancies for a term certain, the lengths of the terms, and  
(d) the circumstances in which they will grant a further tenancy on the coming to 

an end of an existing tenancy 
 

(2) The tenancy strategy must summarise those polices or explain where they may be 
found  

 
1.2 In this document, we describe the current ‘state of play’ in respect to the Council’s 

own stock as Registered Provider for its own stock and that owned and managed by 
housing associations (also known as Private Registered Providers) partners, for the 
purposes of this document described as Housing Associations.  

 
1.3  This Tenancy Strategy will replace the Tenancy Strategy adopted in October 2012.  
 
2.  Hammersmith & Fulham’s Tenancy Strategy Approach  
 
2.1  A key theme of the administration’s manifesto commitments was to improve security 

of tenants and also help ensure housing costs could remain affordable.  
 
2.2 Historically, tenancies issued by local authority registered providers and housing 

association registered providers are broadly similar, inasmuch they are ‘lifetime’ 
tenancies. This means that tenants have the right to stay in the property unless the 
landlord can convince the court that there are special reasons to evict them, for 
example, the tenant has not paid the rent and service charges, is not living at the 
property, has sublet or has broken another  condition of the tenancy. All new 
Hammersmith and Fulham tenants will be introductory tenants for the first 12 months 
of the tenancy. 

 
2.3 There are opportunities for succeeding the tenancy if the tenant dies, principally 

spouses/partners/civil partners and/or household members who have resided at the 
property for at least 12 months. Succession rules changed for tenancies granted 
after 1 April 2012 and individual tenants should check their tenancies as to what 
rules apply to them. The policy position on discretionary succession will also be set 

Page 73



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

9 
 

out in the latest Council Housing Allocation Scheme document which sets out the 
‘rules’ by which affordable rented accommodation is allocated. 

 
2.4 On security of tenure, the Council intends to return to issuing ‘lifetime’ secure 

tenancies for its council tenancies. But the Council is seeking views on whether 
certain categories of applicant (e.g., those with a record of anti-social behaviour) 
should have fixed term tenancies granted in the first instance. We also recommend 
to our housing association partners that their equivalent tenancy, the Assured 
Tenancy, should be adopted rather than adopting Assured Shorthold Tenancies. 
However, we recognise under the funding regime adopted by the Mayor of London 
and that policies adopted by both the Council and housing associations must be in 
‘general conformity’ with his Housing Strategy, housing associations have changed 
their approach to both tenancies and rents. Some housing associations are now 
issuing five year fixed term Assured Shorthold Tenancies and are charging 
affordable rents that can be twice what they are charging their existing tenants. The 
Council recognises that the Affordable Rent regime and the more commonplace 
adoption of Assured Shorthold Tenancies is a result of a change in national policy, 
but nonetheless consider that some local discretion can be applied to improve 
affordability and security of tenure.   

 
2.5 The Council has relatively limited powers to exert change on our housing association 

partners’ work, but where the Council provides funding or land for development or 
other tangible support, in the absence of any GLA funding, it will seek additional 
value – through lower rents and lifetime tenancies - where appropriate. 

 
2.6 For housing associations, the Council expects them to have regard to this Tenancy 

Strategy when developing tenancy policies and granting tenancies in Hammersmith 
& Fulham area. These decisions may be impacted by GLA grant conditions for new 
affordable housing broader changes applied following the 2011 Localism Act. Where 
the Council directly or indirectly facilitates the delivery of new housing through use of 
public land; commuted sums; or other intervention, then the Council would seek to 
ensure that the housing association concerned delivers rents and tenancies that 
broadly conforms with this Tenancy Strategy, namely Assured Tenancies, charged at 
target rents.   

 
3. Use of Fixed Term Tenancies (also known as Flexible Tenancies)  
 
3.1 The Council in its Housing Strategy states that it will use fixed term tenancies for 

“certain categories of applicant”. This section sets out the categories of applicant and 
what types of tenancy will be granted. There are two categories of applicant that the 
Council may grant fixed term tenancies for:  

 
 3.1.1 Where the Council adopts a Local Lettings Plan which will involve varying the 

‘rules’ of the Housing Allocation Scheme which enables applicants to access the 
Housing Register. The Council will consult with tenants who are affected by the 
change in policy. Such a change in policy may involve giving allocations priority to 
certain categories of applicant from the Housing Register or the Home Buy Register. 
Where the Council proposes  a Local Lettings Plan, it will publish a draft document 
and undertake a consultation process, which sets out what kinds of tenancies are 
going to be proposed. These will either be 2 year or 5 year fixed term tenancies 

Page 74



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Hammersmith & Fulham Tenancy Strategy 

10 
 

which can be renewed, both of which will be preceded by a 1 year introductory 
tenancy.  

 
 3.1.2 The Council is retaining discretion to grant fixed term tenancies for applicants 

who have a history of anti-social behaviour; unspent criminal convictions; or any 
other reason that the Director of Housing responsible for Housing Options considers 
necessary to warrant the grant of a fixed term tenancy.  

 
 3.1.3  In both instances set out above, the basis for renewal of such a tenancy will 

be raised with the tenant when the renewal process is due to begin, approximately 9 
months before the tenancy is due to expire.   

 
4. Affordable Rents  
 
4.1 One of the objectives of the National Government through its Future for Social 

Housing consultation paper and the 2011 Localism Act that followed it was to 
generate additional revenue from the rental stream of new affordable housing, with 
the intention of alleviating the capital cost of housing development. This meant rather 
than adopting rents which were generated from individual housing associations’ 
policies – mostly ‘target rents’ - the intention was to link affordable rents to those of 
the local housing market.  

 
4.2 The Council is not seeking to set a local affordable rent policy which all Registered 

Providers should adhere to. The Council’s preference is that rents should be aligned  
as close as possible to ‘target rents’ for individual Registered Providers and be 
affordable to people on low incomes in the Borough. The Council recognises that 
where schemes are funded by the Greater London Authority, rents charged may be 
either Discounted Rent (up to 80% of local market rents) or Capped Rent (up to 50% 
of local market rents), both inclusive of service charges. Where new social or 
affordable rented homes are proposed, ‘in year’ indicative rents and service charges 
for comparative purposes should be set out. In calculating social and affordable 
rents, developers should have regard to the Mayor of London’s London Rents Map 
(which uses up to date housing costs information from the Valuation Office Agency) 
for comparative purposes. Any increases in rent between the proposal and 
completion should be based on an annual Consumer Price Index (CPI) + 1% 
projection. 

4.3 For guidance purposes, the Council will publish ‘indicative rents’ on its website based 
on affordable rents charged for that financial year in the borough that will give 
residents, housing associations and developers to ‘benchmark’ the level of rents the 
Council would expect to see charged. Our preference remains to support the delivery 
of rented homes charged at ‘target rents’ but we are also aware of the impact of 
service charges (which are excluded from the ‘target rent’ regime), particularly in 
high density developments. The Council would not expect target rents plus service 
charges to exceed Capped Rents described above and will expect service charges 
to be kept to an affordable minimum. The Council believes careful consideration to 
the design of new homes can help minimise costs derived from service charges.  

 
June 2015  
 

Page 75



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

1 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council 
 
 

Home Buy Allocation 
Scheme 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

June 2015  

Page 76



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

2 
 

Home Buy Allocation Scheme Consultation  
 
The Council is seeking your views on  this Draft Home Buy Allocation Scheme.  
 
What is the Home Buy Allocation Scheme 
 
This Home Buy Allocation Scheme sets out the ‘rules’ by which affordable 
intermediate housing available to the council is allocated to applicants on the 
Council’s Home Buy Register. Intermediate housing is usually for working people on 
low to medium incomes who don’t qualify to access the housing register social or 
affordable rented housing but can’t afford to buy a home on the open market. The 
most common forms of intermediate housing are shared ownership and discount 
market sale but there are other types which are explained in this document.  
 
To access this Draft Home Buy Allocation Scheme electronically, go to 
www.lbhf.gov.uk/housingconsultation   
 
If you:  

• Want a paper copy of the Home Buy Allocation Scheme document 

• Have any questions about this Home Buy Allocation Scheme document and 
would like to discuss them 

• Want a clearer explanation of what we are proposing 

• Want to meet someone from the Council to discuss the Draft Scheme or 
would like someone to attend a meeting 

• Want to send a response  
 
please contact Aaron Cahill, Interim Housing Strategy Manager  on 020 8753 1649 
or email  housingconsultation@lbhf.gov.uk and we will respond as soon as we can. 
You can also write to us at the office address below.  
 
The Council will collate responses from:  
 

• Consultation survey responses (written and electronically)  

• Interviews and discussions with individuals and group meetings 

• Written submissions received from individuals and organisations  

• Notes from consultation meetings  
 
If you want a paper copy of the Home Buy Allocation Scheme document, call or 
email us using the contact details above.   
 
If you want to submit a paper copy of any response you want to make, please send it  
to:  
 
Housing Strategy Team  
Housing Department  
First Floor, 145 King St  
London W6 9XY  
 
Submissions in response to this consultation process must be made by Wednesday 
16 September 2015  

Page 77



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

3 
 

 
Housing Strategy Consultation Process January - March 2015  
 
We consulted with interested parties during early 2015 on the Housing Strategy, 
seeking views on the ‘direction of travel’ that we wanted to take. We have now 
adopted our Housing Strategy and have undertaken to consult further on the detail of 
individual documents. The other documents we are consulting on are the Housing 
Allocation Scheme and the Tenancy Strategy. People took some time and effort to 
respond to what we published and we have set out below some of what they said. 
The comments below relate to the Council’s proposed approach to the Home Buy 
Allocation Scheme.  
 
We asked you two questions:  

The First Survey Question was: To what extent do you agree with the proposal to 
allocate homes for low-cost home ownership equally between three income bands in 
future?  

The background to the question was as follows:  

The Council intends to consult on changes to the Home Buy Allocation Scheme. This 
scheme allocates the homes available for low-cost ownership according to 
applicants’ income and priority ranking. The Mayor of London’s London Plan says 
low-cost home ownership should be open to people earning between £21,100 and 
£66,000 (or £80,000 for 3-bed homes)*. In future, the council is proposing to allocate 
homes for low-cost ownership equally between three income bands:  

• Up to £29,000 gross income  
• £29,001-£43,550 gross income  
• £43,551-£50,550 gross income 
 
* Note: The Mayor of London has since increased the income floor to £21,500 and 
the income caps to £71,000 and £85,000 since the consultation process.  

Responses to the Survey: Over a half (56%) of the respondents agreed with the 
proposal while a third (33%) disagreed. 

Comments included:  

“This will help the lowest income population on the housing ladder.” – male, council 
tenant, unable to work, W12 
 

“Good idea, otherwise sales of LCHO homes will be solely market-driven i.e. will go 
those most able to afford, which undermines mixed communities”  

 
“I would have thought that there should more preference given to people in the lower 
income brackets, rather than share out the opportunity equally to all three bands.” – 
owner outright, retired, W6 

 

Page 78



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

4 
 

“This would be fair to all groups that can't get on to the housing list.” – female, 
council tenant, part-time work, W12 

 
“Would like to own my own home and any incentive to buy either my current home or 
a new build would certainly help me and others like me.” – female, council tenant, 
full-time work, W12 
 

“LBHF should be providing cheap rentals not propping up the cost of ownership by 
being involved in any kind of ownership scheme.” – private rented, full-time work, W6 
 
“The Council's three bends seem more realistic (i.e. better reflecting existing need) 
than the Mayor's.” – female, owner outright, retired, W14 
 
“People earning £80,000 need help buying a home? I think they may need lessons in 
financial planning. Home ownership is not an inalienable right.” – male, owner with a 

mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 
 
“Agree that it should be distributed across those income bands, but believe the focus 
should be much more on rented accommodation than ownership.” – female, owner 
outright, part-time work, SW6 
 

“You live where you can afford.”  
 
“I think the Mayor's income levels are too high. For instance public sector incomes 
are rarely found to be much more than £40k more likely to be less than £30k. Other 
income level such as shop workers, earn nothing like these salaries.” – male, owner 
outright, retired, W12 
 

“Looks good in writing but will it come to plan.” – female, council tenant, full-time 
work, SW6 

 
“I think it's a really good idea to allow people to buy - but if the homes are heavily 
discounted then it should be on a leasehold basis only (no more than 90 years or 
life-term)” – female, owner with a mortgage or loan, part-time work, W12 
 
“Disagree with Home Ownership Schemes. Council is there to provide social housing 

for those in need. Property prices are expensive in the private sector but that should 
not the concern of the Council.” – male, owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time 

work, W14 
 
“If it is administered without interference it could work.” – female, private rented, 
unable to work, W6 
 
“Priority should be given to those at the lower end.” – female, owner outright, retired, 

W12 
 
“Would like to see more priority for low-income families.” – male, owner outright, 
retired, W6 
 

Page 79



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

5 
 

“Should be a higher proportion for lower earners.” – female, council tenant, full-time 
work, SW6 

 
“All these groups need help to buy somewhere to live.” – female, owner outright, full-
time work, W12 
 

“The current Shared Ownership salary cap of £66,000 for 2 bedrooms properties 
makes it increasingly difficult to find a market for higher value units (which are 

becoming increasing common in London following a price rise over the past 18 
months) due to mortgage lenders’ restrictions on the amount that purchasers can 
borrow. By further restricting the income criteria you will make it impossible to sell 

certain units through the Shared Ownership model to anyone other than those 
parties with very large deposits.” – housing association tenant 

The Second Survey Question was : To what extent do you agree with the current 
priority order in which the council ranks people seeking low-cost home ownership? 

The context to the question was as follows: At the moment, the council ranks people 
seeking low cost home ownership in the following priority order: 1. social tenants 
(council or housing association who would be vacating their home); 2. armed 
services / (ex-armed services personnel; 3. police officers living or working in the 
borough; 4. homeless working households in temporary accommodation; 5. disabled 
applicants; 6. households living for 12 consecutive months in the borough; 7. 
households working for 12 consecutive months in the borough; 8. households living 
or working in the borough with an income within a certain limit; 9 households with an 
income above a certain limit. 

Responses to the Survey: Over a half (51%) of the respondents agreed with the 
current priority order while a quarter (25%) disagreed. 

Comments included:  

“Want to see the proposed detail. However given the density of the borough. The 
high property values. It seems to me that building the rental market in a fair way may 
be more prudent then passing resources to the private sector.  If rents were fair and 
affordable then as in the past, people would be able to save for home ownership.  
Subsidising home ownership is a cost to the borough from which it is likely to 
achieve no return on investment.” – male, council tenant, unable to work, SW6 
 
“People born or educated in the borough” – owner outright, full-time work, SW6 
 

“I would add in health service workers and care workers.” – female, owner outright, 
retired, W12 

 
“Living in the borough for 12 months is not long enough.” – female, council tenant, 
part-time work, W12 
 

“Very difficult to prioritise the different categories” – female, owner outright, retired, 
W14 

 

Page 80



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

6 
 

“Police/Firemen/Armed Service Personnel/Nurses should be very high priority. I 
would also include teachers and carers, but not as high.” – male, owner with a 
mortgage or loan, full-time work, SW6 
 

“Once again the provision appears to apportion on a fair basis.” – male, housing 
association tenant, retired, SW6 

 
"Key workers should be added. Key worker definition needs to be agreed but should 
include the police for instance, but should include health workers and other providing 
vital public services.” – male, owner outright, retired, W12 
 

“Anyone who works, but has a low income, should be supported." – female, owner 
with a mortgage or loan, part-time work, SW6 

 
"The time living in the borough is far too short to qualify for subsidised housing.” – 
owner outright, retired, W6 
 

"I don't see why armed forces or Police officers should get preferential treatment 
here. Disabled applicants should get priority to appropriate properties but not as a 

general policy.” – male, owner with a mortgage or loan, full-time work, W12 
 
“Young adults coming from the care system” – female, owner with a mortgage or 
loan, full-time work, W12 
 

"Not sure about Armed Services / Ex Armed Services Personnel.” – female, private 
rented, full-time work, W6 

 
“There is no mention of key workers such as hospital staff.” – female, owner with a 
mortgage or loan, full-time work, W14 
 

“Nurses, NHS staff should be ranked at or above the same level as police officers. 
London Transport drivers should also be on the list, although not Tube Drivers.” 

  
“Why should MY tax money be used to pay for somebody's housing just because 
they have worked in the borough for 12 months? What is the Tube for?” – male, 
owner with a mortgage or loan, part-time work, SW6 
 

"Add medical personnel to this list - in principle the benevolent who give to society 
should receive back from society.” – male, shared ownership, full-time work, SW6 

 
“Armed service and police personnel need to be lower down as they earn far more 
than a lot of people. Disabled and homeless and those living/ working in borough 
should be higher up instead.” – female, private rented, full-time work, W6 
 

“The borough is losing lots of teachers/ police officers because of housing." – male, 
full-time work, W12 

 
“Likewise I don't think the police should have higher priority than other public 
services.” – female, council tenant, full-time work, W6 
 

Page 81



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

7 
 

“I think teachers who work in special schools who do many out of hours social 
activities.” – female, council tenant, unable to work, W12 

 
“Police officers living or working in the borough should not be given priority.”  

- Advice Centre   
 

“We do not agree that certain professions should be offered priority over others, nor 
do we believe that it is necessary to restrict the Shared Ownership market to those 

parties who live or work in the Borough. As such we would recommend that these 
criteria are removed from the list above.” – housing association tenant 

Page 82



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

8 
 

Home Buy Allocation Scheme 
 
Index             
 
 
1.  What is the Home Buy Allocation Scheme and why have one 
 
2.  What intermediate housing products are available  
 
3. Who provides intermediate housing  
 
4.  Qualification and priority  
 
5.  Affordability Bands for Home Buy Products 
 
6.  Local Lettings Plans  
 
7.  How to Register for Home Buy  
 

Page 83



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

9 
 

 
1.  What is the Home Buy Allocation Scheme and why have one    
 
1.1 The Home Buy Allocation Scheme sets out the Council’s overall approach to 

allocating homes available to applicants on the Home Buy Register. These 
will be applicants who cannot afford to access open market housing in 
Hammersmith & Fulham and do not otherwise qualify to access affordable for 
rent housing that can be accessed under the Housing Allocation Scheme.  

 
1.2 In more detail, the Home Buy Allocation Scheme seeks to:  
 
 Firstly, make clear to applicants seeking Home Buy opportunities what 

criteria needs to be met to access the Home Buy register and what products 
are available. 

  
 Secondly, make clear to developers and housing associations (also known 

as Private Registered Providers) what the Council’s approach to Home Buy is, 
particularly in respect of affordability. 

 
 Thirdly, to align the Council’s approach to allocating homes under the Home 

Buy Scheme with the approach the Council has adopted for social housing, as 
set out in the Housing Allocation Scheme which is being revised at the same 
time, with specific reference to Local Lettings Plans. 

 
1.3 There are more detailed associated documents that address specific issues 

regarding registration and the kind of information that applicants need to 
provide the Council in order to access the Home Buy Register. These are 
available from the Council’s Home Buy team whose details can be found at 
the end of this document.  

 
2.  What intermediate housing products are available    

2.1 The rationale for intermediate housing is a very simple one: it is for people 
who do not qualify for social housing and who cannot afford to buy a home on 
the open market and in some instances not able to rent privately either. It is 
normally the case that the cost of intermediate housing will be lower than the 
cost of open market housing (including private rented housing) but higher than 
the cost of social/affordable rented housing. It relies on a discount which is 
achieved through public subsidy; discounted land; or through a ‘planning 
obligation’ whereby the developer provides the affordable housing as part of a 
planning agreement.   

 
2.2 Intermediate housing tend to have three characteristics:  
 

• The rent on the home is discounted 

• The purchase cost of the home is discounted  

• Both the rent and the purchase cost of  the home is discounted  
 

Page 84



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

10 
 

 Service charges (e.g., cleaning and maintenance of communal and 
environmental areas; communal heating; management costs, etc) will be an 
additional cost, making up total ‘housing costs’.  

 
2.3 As a guiding principle, the more the discount, the lower the housing costs. But 

this means the cost of providing the home is greater.  Given the high house 
prices in Hammersmith & Fulham,  the discount can be hundreds of 
thousands of pounds for one property, which means the subsidies involved or 
planning obligation provided are a significant financial consideration for the 
developer concerned. 

 
2.4 There are four main intermediate housing products, with a number of 

variations within each one. 
 

1. Shared ownership: Applicants purchase on a leasehold basis paying 
between 25 and 75 per cent of the property value, and pay a low rent on 
the remaining property value to a housing association. This means a 
tenancy is created. The applicant is responsible for 100 per cent of the 
maintenance, and is likely to pay service charges if the property is a flat. 
Purchasers can buy additional shares up to 100 per cent, known as 
‘staircasing’, if their financial circumstances allow them to do so. 
 

2. Discount Market Sale (DMS) is a low cost home ownership product 
where a newly built property is purchased at a discounted price with the 
unsold equity held by the Council in perpetuity. The Council in effect gives 
the owner the free use of the Council’s share. Should the home owner 
decide to sell the property, it is sold at the same percentage at the 
prevailing market value, ideally to another prospective purchaser from the 
Home Buy Register.  
 

3. Intermediate Rent: These are homes, typically let by housing 
associations, at below market rent, thereby enabling tenants to save for a 
deposit. Rents are usually charged at up to 80 per cent of market levels.  

 
4. Shared equity/loan: Applicants purchase the property outright with a 

conventional mortgage but with the assistance of a further loan, also 
secured against the title of the property. Interest is not typically charged on 
the loan for an initial period. There are no regular capital repayments 
required on the loan but the amount repaid is based on the property value 
at the time of redemption, reflecting any increase or decrease in the value 
of the home.  

 
A further option is being considered by the Council.  
 
5.  Equity Home Share - The Council wants to take the best aspects of the 

products described above into something that is attractive for applicants; 
financially viable; and mortgageable. The DMS product is popular, but 
there is no scope for ‘staircasing up’ as per the shared ownership model, 
but nor is there an incentive to do so, apart from speculating on future 
house price rises. If the Council were to charge a rent for the unsold 

Page 85



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

11 
 

equity, then this would involve creating a tenancy  and would require a 
landlord (e.g., a housing association).  

 
2.5 In summary, the Council is generally supportive of all the intermediate 

products described above, with the caveat that it is developing its approach to 
developing a fifth option. However, it will always to seek to ensure that any 
intermediate product that is developed is affordable to those seeking homes 
and that prospective applicants will be able to afford to sustain the housing 
costs  in intermediate housing over the medium to long term.  

3. Who Provides Intermediate Housing?  
 
3.1 There are only a few organisations that provide intermediate housing. They 

are principally:   
 
 3.1.1 Housing Associations – also known as Private Registered Providers 

who have a strong record in delivering intermediate housing. 
Organisations such as Notting Hill; Peabody; Shepherds Bush; 
Catalyst (not an exhaustive list) all have a track record of delivering 
intermediate housing in the borough and outside it.  

 
3.1.2 Private Developers – have in recent years delivered affordable 

products, principally Discount Market Sale housing. In this instance, the 
developer sells a proportion of the home to the applicant, with the 
remaining unsold proportion vested with the Council.  

 
 3.1.2 Hammersmith & Fulham Council – in its ‘direct delivery’ role had a 

 programme of building new homes which in the past has led to the 
 development of Discount Market Sale homes.  

 
3.2 As a general principle, the Council will take responsibility for nominating 

households to Home Buy opportunities available in the borough. These will be 
structured through nomination agreements.  

 
4.  Qualification and Priority  
 
4.1 When a New Build Home Buy property becomes available we alert all the 

people registered with h&f Home Buy via email. Once the property has been 
viewed and reservation fee lodged by those people who are seriously 
interested in moving to the property the council are sent a list of these people 
by the developing Housing Association or their agents from which we create a 
prioritised shortlist. 

4.2 More people express an interest in low cost home ownership than we have 
available properties, so the council has to prioritise which people will be given 
the opportunity to purchase. Information on minimum and maximum income 
levels are specified in the next section of this document. 

 

 

Page 86



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

12 
 

Qualification  

4.3 Regarding qualification for the Home Buy Register, applicants, should:  

1. Live or work within the Borough 

2. Not be a home owner at the time of nomination for a development 
(Note: exceptions to this rule will be where an applicant who is 
currently in a recognised low cost home ownership property and need 
to move to a larger home). Such applicants will have to have 
commenced the sale process of their existing home and must have at 
least reached the ‘exchange of contract’ stage before being considered 
for another LCHO property. 

3. Have a household income not exceeding the relevant limits (See 
Section 6) 

4. Not be able to purchase a comparable property on the open market  

5.  Be eligible under the Housing Allocation Scheme (See Annex A)  

Priority  

4.4 The council has followed government and local priorities when deciding who 
will be prioritised for Home Buy properties. Priority is given in the order listed 
below (the first two have joint priority): 

1. Social tenants in either council housing or Private Registered Provider 
housing (i.e., housing association) accommodation, where the Council 
will gain the nomination of the vacated property vacated. This will 
include council tenants on 5 year flexible tenancies or 5 year housing 
association tenants on Assured Shorthold Tenancies. 

1. Armed Services (and Ex Armed Services) personnel (as defined by 
First Steps London*) living (or previously living as an adult) for twelve 
consecutive months in the borough 

3.  Police officers living or working in the borough 

4. Homeless Working Households in Temporary Accommodation  

5. Disabled applicants who are wheelchair users (See Section 5.8) 

6. Households living for twelve consecutive months in the borough  

 7. Household working for twelve consecutive months in the borough  

 8. Households living or working in the borough with an income  within the  
  relevant limit 

9. Households with an income above the levels specified in Section 6.3,  
expected to be  mainly for resale of low cost home ownership products.  

 Note: Households will be prioritised in order of need for the type or 
bedroom size of the property and for family sized properties, 

Page 87



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

13 
 

households with a need will be prioritised. As a general principle, an 
applicant’s household bedroom need will have more weight than that of 
an applicant who wants, but doesn’t need an additional bedroom 
irrespective of the priority grouping. 

 * First Steps London definition of eligible armed (and ex-armed) 
services personnel is as follows:  

To be considered a priority, armed forces personnel must have 
completed basic (phase 1) training and fall into one of the following 
categories: 
 
• Regular service personnel (including Military Provost Guards 
 Service in the Army, Navy, Air Force) 
• Clinical staff (excluding doctors and dentists) 
• MoD police officers 
• Uniformed staff in the Defence Fire Service 
• Ex-regular service personnel (who have served in the Armed 

Forces for a minimum of six years and can produce a Discharge 
certificate, or similar document). Applications must be within 12 
months of discharge 

• The surviving partners of regular service personnel who have 
died in service may be eligible to be prioritised where they apply 
within 12 months of the date of being bereaved 

 
The following roles are prioritised for Intermediate Rent only: 
 
• Full Time Reserve Service (Full Commitment) 
• Individuals who have not completed basic training 
 

5.5 The Council reserves the right to change the prioritisation model at any time 
without notice. This will be agreed by the Director of Housing responsible for 
Housing Options  in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing. 

5.6 There will be occasional schemes which have attracted specific funding which 
may require variations on the eligibility and qualifying criteria outlined above.  

Shortlisting 

5.7 The Council currently has over 7,000 applicants on its Home Buy Register. 
This means that when schemes are marketed, they are often over-subscribed. 
The Council as part of its shortlisting process will assess the applicant’s 
priority (as described in 5.4 above); their income; and their savings when 
considering who should be allocated a Home Buy Opportunity. In the case of 
two bedroom or more, priority will be given to households with children. The 
Council will also be mindful of its statutory equality duties to ensure that a 
suitably wide range of the Hammersmith & Fulham community accesses 
Home Buy opportunities.  

 

 

Page 88



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

14 
 

Housing for People with Disabilities   
 
5.8 The Council as part of its planning approach requires that all new build 

dwellings should be built to “Lifetime Homes” standards with 10% to be 
wheelchair accessible, or easily adaptable for residents that are wheelchair 
users (Core Strategy Policy H4). Note: Reference to the Lifetime Homes 
Standard, wheelchair accessible or easily adaptable dwelling will be replaced 
by new Building Regulation Requirements on 1st Oct 2015 and the London 
Plan is currently being altered to ensure that these new optional requirements 
will be implemented in London. 

 
5.9 Where the Council has secured affordable housing for Home Buy purposes 

which is accessible (or adaptable) for wheelchair users, such housing will be 
marketed in the first instance to Home Buy applicants who have indicated that 
they require such housing. The Council will seek to ensure that the marketing 
programme for such housing will be longer than that for general needs 
applicants.  

 
5.10  Applicants who are wheelchair users will receive priority for accommodation 

which is wheelchair adapted/adaptable. A disabled applicant who uses a 
wheelchair at the time of application should be capable of independent living, 
allowing for any funded package of care and support. In the event that such 
accommodation is not allocated to a disabled applicant who uses a 
wheelchair, the Council may give priority to applicants who have moderate or 
severe disabilities (including learning disabilities) and be capable of 
independent living, allowing for any funded package of care and support. The 
Council may seek advice from its independent medical advisor to assess the 
severity of need to inform its decision.  

 
Affordability and Income  
 
5.11 It is important that applicants have sufficient income and saving to be able to 

both access the Home Buy products that the Council has available, but also to 
have the resources to sustain the occupancy of the home concerned. By this 
we mean be able to pay the housing costs, e.g., mortgage, rent, service 
charges and living expenses, in a managed fashion. 

Affordability  

5.12 As guiding principles, a successful applicant will need to:  

• be in sustainable employment  

• have the necessary savings for any deposit required (dependent on the 
Home Buy product)   

• have sufficient income to meet the housing (and associated) costs of 
sustaining occupation of the Home Buy product  

5.13 Affordability is based on a mortgage multiplier of 3.5 x gross annual 
household income.  This means if your gross household income is £50,000, 
then the mortgage that we consider likely that you will be able to attract for 
affordability purposes would £175,000. The Council does not expect housing 

Page 89



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

15 
 

costs to be greater than 40% of disposable income (i.e., after income tax), in 
line with guidance set by the Mayor of London.  

Minimum Income Floor and Maximum Income Cap Levels 

5.14 Eligibility for intermediate housing is defined largely in relation to income and 
ability to purchase a suitable home without assistance. Applicants (i.e., a 
single applicants or joint applicants) must have an annual income of more 
than £21,500 although we will consider exceptions to this (e.g. where an 
applicant has a substantial deposit). This is an ‘income floor’. The maximum 
income that a household can earn and still qualify for the Home Buy Register 
is £71,000 for a one bedroom or two bedroom home, increasing to £85,000 
for those with dependents purchasing three-bedrooms or more, in order to 
reflect the higher cost of both developing and buying a family sized home in 
London. These income levels should be considered as ‘income ceilings’. The 
income floor and income ceilings are drawn from the Mayor of London’s 
Annual Monitoring Report which are usually published in Spring of each year.  

5.15 This means the maximum income you can have if you are seeking to access 
a home available under the Home Buy Allocation Scheme. The one exception 
to these limits would be Priority 9 identified in Section 4.4 (9) of this report.  

6. Affordability Bands  for Home Buy Products  

6.1 The tenure, type and supply of affordable housing for Home Buy purposes 
comes from a number of sources and circumstances and it is therefore not 
possible to be certain about what will be available at a particular time. 
However, the Council is committed to increasing the supply and choice of 
affordable housing for Home Buy purposes as part of its wider objective to 
realise its regeneration and growth ambitions.  

6.2 Where the Council is working with a private developer and/or a housing 
association on a scheme, the Council will seek to facilitate the delivery of 
intermediate housing which will be affordable to applicants on incomes set out 
below. bands:  

1.  1/3 affordable to households on gross incomes of up to £29,000 
 (midpoint figure £25,250   

2.  1/3 affordable to households on gross incomes of up to £43,550 
 (midpoint £36,275)   

3.  1/3 affordable to households on gross incomes of up to £50,550 
 (midpoint £47,050)  

 
6.3 The reasoning behind the affordability bands is simple: the Council wishes to 

see as broad a range as possible of income earners accessing Home Buy 
opportunities. If the affordable housing concerned were  only available to 
households on incomes at the Mayor of London’s income caps of £71,000 
and £85,000 as described in Section 4.2, this would clearly be restricting 
access to households in lower paid employment, particularly those who are 
currently resident in social rented housing. The Council is particularly keen to 
encourage these cohorts of need to  access intermediate housing 
opportunities available under the Home Buy Allocation Scheme. 

Page 90



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

16 
 

6.4 In addition, the Council will seek the mid-point of these income bands when 
negotiating with developers and housing associations which are set out in 
brackets above  

6.5 The Council will review these income bands in the spring of each financial 
year with a view to uplifting them using the Office for National Statistics (ONS) 
Average Working Earnings index.  

6.6 Homes available to buy under Shared Ownership are usually available to 
purchase at a minimum equity purchase of 25% of their open market value 
with a rental payment due on the remaining 75% of the unowned equity, with 
additional payment due for service charges. With the high open market values 
in Hammersmith & Fulham, the Council will expect developers to minimise the 
rental payment on the unowned equity (i.e., that part owned by the housing 
association which the occupier pays rent on) and also service charges. This 
will help keep the monthly housing cost outgoing to a minimum, as close as 
possible to the income bands described in Section 6.2, but the Council 
recognises that this will continue to be challenging, as it is elsewhere in 
central London locations.  

6.7 In calculating affordable Intermediate Rents, developers should have regard 
to the Mayor of London’s London Rents Map (which uses up to date housing 
cost information from the Valuation Office Agency) when calculating what 
intermediate rents (which will include service charges) are intended to be 
charged and their relationship with the income bands described above.  

6.8 The Council be considering ways and means of making available affordable 
housing for people on the income bands described above and will welcome 
innovative approaches from developers which achieve that objective.  

6.9 As is clear from the above, the Council’s approach is based on the income 
affordability, and is not based on the market value of the property concerned. 
This is an important distinction. If the Council were to stipulate that all Home 
Buy products for sale (i.e., excluding Intermediate Rent opportunities) were to 
be priced at 50% of market value in the higher priced areas of the borough, 
then it is possible that very few homes would be affordable for applicants, 
even those on the higher income bands. What in effect happens is that 
applicants purchase a part of the home and have the use of the remainder. 
Some Home Buy Products such as Shared Ownership offer opportunities for 
applicants to buy the remainder at some point in the future as income and 
wealth increases which can happen as people’s circumstances change.  

6.10 Each scheme on which the Council works with a private developer and/or 
housing association will vary. There may be circumstances where it is not 
financially viable for affordable housing to be built which can be accessed by 
applicants on each of the income bands identified in Section 6.8.  

6.11 For Intermediate Rent schemes, the Council expects housing costs (rent and 
services charges) to be no greater than 80% of local market rental costs (i.e., 
including service charges) and should be lower than this, given the high 
housing costs in Hammersmith & Fulham, and should be affordable to 
applicants on the income bands set out in Section 6.2.   

Page 91



Delivering the change we need in housing 
Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

17 
 

7.  Local Lettings Plans   

7.1 The Housing Allocation Scheme (Dec  2012) gave the Council authority to 
adopt Local lettings Plans (LLPs) in accordance with government guidance. 
Any updated Scheme is likely to continue to feature the Council using this 
power. The purpose of LLPs is to adopt a different approach to lettings in an 
area where the Council wishes to achieve certain objectives, such as meeting 
specific housing needs, which may include alleviating overcrowding.   

7.2 This approach may include letting housing association homes charged at 
Affordable Rents (charged at up to 80% of local market rents) on fixed term 
tenancies. The intention is to create an opportunity for working households to 
save money on their housing costs in order to access the low cost home 
ownership at some future point. This is part of the Council’s wider ‘Delivering 
the change we need approach. The Council will be exploring other ways of 
achieving this objective.  

7.3 Separate qualification criteria will apply to those persons on the Home Buy 
Register who qualify for an allocation under a Local Lettings Plan.  

7.4 More detail on the Council’s approach to Local Lettings Plans can be found in 
the Housing Allocation Scheme and consultation will take place on individual 
proposed Local Lettings Plan proposals.  

7.5 Home Buy Applicants will be asked to make clear whether they wish to be 
considered for a Local Lettings Plan opportunity when they apply or are 
refreshing their current application.   

8.  How to register for Home Buy   
 
8.1 If you wish to register with the Council for accommodation under the Home 

Buy Allocation Scheme, make your first point of enquiry our website to 
appraise you of further information available.  

  
 www.lbhf.gov.uk/homebuy  
 
8.2 If you wish to make an appointment  to see one of our specialists for a one-to-

one meeting with an advisor, help with solicitors and finding an independent 
financial advisor:  

 
call 020 8753 6464  
 
or, email h&fHome-Buy@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 

June 2015  

Page 92



Delivering the Change We Need in Housing

Economic Regeneration, Housing 

and The Arts Policy and 

Accountability Committee

Housing Strategy Consultation Update 

Tuesday 7 July 2015

P
a
g
e
 9

3



1. Housing Strategy Vision & 

Themes

The Council wants more and better, well-managed 

affordable housing in mixed income, mixed tenure 

successful places . 

Achieve this by: 

- Regenerating Places & Increasing Affordable 

Housing Supply 

- Meeting Housing Need and Aspiration 

- Excellent Housing Services for All

16 actions to deliver the strategy 

P
a
g
e
 9

4



2. Key Changes

• Residents’ Commission

• Increasing Affordable Housing Supply, 

approximately 400 affordable homes p.a.

• Improving the private rented sector

Other changes focused on: 

• How the Council allocates affordable rented 

and low cost home ownership housing

• Types of social housing tenancies 

granted 

P
a
g
e
 9

5



��������	
��	���	���
��	������������

��������

	
��
��

��������

������
����

	����

�������

	
��
���

��������

������
����

	���

P
a
g
e
 9

6



4. Changes Proposed 

These changes need to be detailed in the: 

• Housing Allocation Scheme

• Tenancy Strategy 

• Home Buy Allocation Scheme 

Each of the documents reflect more detail 

on the proposed changes set out in the 

Housing Strategy

P
a
g
e
 9

7



��������	
���������	����������

Scheme sets the ‘rules’ as to who is ‘eligible’ and 
then who ‘qualifies’ to be on the housing register. 
Proposed amendments to qualifying criteria are: 

• Overcrowding qualifying criteria reduced from 2 
bedroom need to a 1 bedroom need 

• Medical condition qualifying criteria changed from 
‘severely affected’ to ‘moderately affected’ 

• Local residency qualifying criteria to be changed 
from ‘five years’ to ‘five out of the previous seven 
years’.

• Applicants in long term temporary accommodation 
readmitted to the Housing Register

P
a
g
e
 9

8



��������	
���������	����������

Successful applicants given Banding Priority

• Band 1: Urgent Need to move due to Reasonable 
Preference plus Additional Priority 

• Band 2 Need to move – Reasonable Preference and 
a Community Contribution 

• Band 3 : Need to move – Reasonable Preference 
but no Community Contribution 

• Band 4: Reduced Priority: Need to Move -
Reasonable Preference but with Reduced Priority

Properties allocated in band order, then by date order 

More detail in Annex 3 of the Housing  Allocation 
Scheme

P
a
g
e
 9

9



��������	
���������	����������

In 2014/15, the Council had access to 606 
nominations to social rented housing

• 362 from the Council, 242 from housing 
associations

• 220 allocated to the homeless; 243 to 
other need groups on the register; and 143 
to transfer cases.

• Of the 606, just 112 (18%) were 3 
bedrooms or more

P
a
g
e
 1

0
0



���������	�
�����	�

Tenancy Strategy sets out a return to 
‘lifetime’ tenancies, but retaining fixed term 
tenancies for particular circumstances:

• Applicants with a history of anti-social 
behaviour or criminal convictions

• Applicants allocated homes under a Local 
Lettings Plan

Also description of council’s approach to 
affordable rents

P
a
g
e
 1

0
1



���������	
����������������

Home Buy Allocation Scheme sets out: 

• Types of intermediate housing homes 

(e.g., low cost home ownership) available 

for applicants

• What priority applicants are given for 

affordable low cost home ownership 

housing

• Affordability thresholds

P
a
g
e
 1

0
2



��������	
�
���

• End of June 2015 to mid September 2015

• Consulting with tenants & residents; 

housing associations; Mayor of London; 

other interested parties 

• Adopt final documents in the Autumn

Comments of the Policy & Accountability 

Committee welcomed… 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
3


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Housing Strategy Second Phase of Consultation on the Council's Housing Allocation Scheme; Tenancy Strategy; and Home Buy Allocation Scheme Draft Documents
	Item 5 - Annex A - HF Housing Allocation Scheme (CMD FINAL2) (without tracks)
	Item 5 - Annex B - HF Tenancy Strategy (CMD FINAL)
	Item 5 - Annex C - HF Home Buy Allocation Scheme (CMD FINAL)
	Item 5 - Annex D


